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PROFILE 
VISION

Mongolia’s global benchmark 

MISSION

The genesis of prosperity
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The Largest Urban-Retail Bank - serving the majority of the urban working population in Mongolia.

The Market Leader in Credit Cards - revolutionizing  the local credit card market with the newly 
launched “ZES” card, successfully capturing 75% of the market within a year.

Top Bank for Corporate & SMEs - serving nearly 80% of the corporate market and leading the SME 
development initiatives in Mongolia.

Broadest Global Network - has long-standing relations with about 100 financial institutions in 30 
countries and facilitates almost half of all SWIFT transactions in Mongolia in 14 major currencies.

Credit Rating
Moody’s S&P

As at 2017.12.31. Since 2018.04.17. As at 2017.12.31.

 Mongolian Sovereign B3 / Stable B3 / Stable B- /Stable

Golomt Bank
Caa1 / Stable 
(placed under review for 
upgrade)

B3 / Stable B - / Stable 

2,013 employees 707,870 clients 100 branches & service points

GOLOMT BANK PROFILE

Golomt Bank, a leading private bank founded in 1995, is one of the systemically important banks in 
Mongolia with total assets of MNT 5.2 trillion and total deposits of MNT 3.3 trillion as of 2017 year-end.

Golomt Bank operates with a well-balanced presence in all three market segments: Corporate, SME, 
and Retail. Since its founding, Golomt Bank’s accomplishments, culture, and loyalty have secured its 
position as a well-recognized brand in the home market.

Business Model: Customer-Centric

We believe that with a “Customer-Centric” approach, we are able to serve our clients more effectively 
with a streamlined process that tailors our products and services to their needs. By increasing our 
customers’ satisfaction, we will strengthen both our position in the market and brand image.
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Dear Shareholders, Customers, Business Partners, and Employees,

We are pleased to present the Annual Report of Golomt Bank for the year 2017, outlining the 
continued progress, achievements, and some challenges the year has brought to us all. 2017 has been 
an economic turning point for Mongolia.

Past uncertainties related to the Mongolian economy and banking sector were cleared in 2017. 
Investor confidence had a major rebound due to better than expected commodities exports, a 
reduced budget deficit, and a well-executed IMF program.

The implementation of the Extended Funding Facility by the IMF, amounting to USD 434 million, 
created conditions for a fiscal and financial stabilization of the country, and has led to the necessary 
policy changes and fiscal discipline for the Government and Parliament of Mongolia.

Driven mainly by commodity export price and volume increases, GDP grew by 5.1%, exports increased 
by 26%, and foreign trade balance was positive with USD 1.9 billion. The Fforeign direct investment 
doubled, reaching USD 1.25 billion, while the government budget deficit decreased to 6% of GDP.

Based on the positive macro-economic developments, investors’ confidence returned and the 
Mongolian Government successfully issued two long term bonds totaling USD 1.4 billion in the 

Message from the Chairwoman of the Board 
of Directors and the CEO of Golomt Bank
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international market with decreased coupon rates. This trend has been confirmed by international 
rating agencies: Moody’s improved the sovereign rating to B3 in January 2018, while Fitch changed its 
rating outlook to positive.

The IMF program also impacted the banking sector and regulatory environment. Bank of Mongolia, at 
the request of IMF, conducted an Asset Quality Review (AQR) of all commercial banks during the third 
and fourth quarter of the year, based on a methodology developed by the European Central Bank.

The AQR resulted in a rigorous process that individually assessed 91% of all loan portfolios, and 
economists have unanimously agreed that the condition of the banking sector was far better than 
expected. As reported by the Governor of the Bank of Mongolia, the entire banking sector’s additional 
capital needs stand at only 1.9% of GDP, or approximately USD 200 million. Finally, the AQR result has 
shown positive solvency and liquidity.

We understand the importance of such a review, which creates a level playing field, increases 
transparency of the Mongolian banking sector and contributes to a growing attractiveness of the 
marketplace for new, foreign and domestic investments.

We embraced this rigorous process as an opportunity to engage with internationally experienced 
experts and worked toward enhancing our risk management processes, as well as the know-how and 
experience of our team.

However, as of the date of this report, (May 25, 2018) the final results of the AQR process are not 
known yet.

On the backdrop of the positive macro-economic development, the banking sector has also 
experienced a number of positive developments. The improving macroeconomic conditions have 
enabled the Bank of Mongolia to decrease the policy rate twice during the year from 14% to 11%, 
starting a trend of a commercial interest rates decrease in the banking system. Furthermore, the money 
supply increased by 30% due to lowered interest rates and improved capital inflow.
Golomt bank has actively assessed, designed, and developed strategies in preparation for Mongolia’s 
economic upturn. We have been diligently implementing a new Customer-Centric Business Model, 
creating new products and services in order to fully serve our diverse customer base better than ever 
before. We have critically reviewed all processes and policies within the bank, thus improving service 
speed, response time, increasing operational efficiency and all aspects of risk management. As a result, 
the operating performance of the bank in 2017 has been very strong, as our operating profitability after 
adjustments has more than doubled relative to the previous fiscal year; net interest margin has been 
growing steadily, reaching 3.3% by the year’s end, and customer satisfaction has reached an all-time 
high.

While staying true to our balanced three-pronged approach and nation-wide reach, serving retail, SME 
as well as large corporate clients, we have been increasing our focus to reach the urban, retail, and VIP 
clientele. One of the outstanding results is our market share in credit cards in the domestic market, 
exceeding 70% by year-end.

In order to continue progressing closer to Golomt Bank’s vision – to become Mongolia’s global 
benchmark bank - we are actively investing in our people. We understand the importance of 
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continuous training and the development of best practice and know-how. We strive to educate our 
customers and clients to help them make better financial and business decisions.

We recognize our responsibility towards the society that we serve and operate in. Only by enabling our 
customers and communities to succeed, will we contribute to the development of a more sustainable 
economy, society and banking sector. With this responsibility in mind, we are pleased to report that 
Golomt Bank has become an active member of United Nations Environmental Program - Financial 
Institutions group (UNEP FI). We are continuously working towards incorporating environmental, 
sustainable, and socially responsible principles into our daily operations and strategies for the benefit of 
our customers and wider society.

Ladies and gentlemen, valued customers and clients, business partners, let us express our deepest 
gratitude for your loyalty, support, and for giving us an opportunity to serve you. 

Our team of two thousand dedicated “Golomt-Bankers” work relentlessly to deliver you a seamless and 
better banking experience.

Dear colleagues, "Golomtchuud," let us thank you for your dedication, ingenuity, and effort that you 
invest in every day for the benefit and well-being of our clients and the bank.

We are optimistically looking towards the future and to an even more successful year in 2018. 

Sincerely yours,

Mrs. Munkhtsetseg Chultem
Chairwoman of the Board

Mr. Ganzorig Ulziibayar 
Chief Executive Officer
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NEW PRODUCTS AND 
SOLUTIONS

ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2017: 
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Golomt Bank received a certificate from the PCI counsel for becoming 
the primary bank to introduce and obtain the latest 3.2 version of the 
PCIDSS standard on the card issuer and receiver side for the first time in 
the Mongolian market.

Gan “Steel” Credit Card

The Bank introduced a new Union Pay-branded Gan credit card with 
flexible credit options that offer a wide range of promotions and 
discounts in Mongolia and in 168 countries worldwide.

Tailored Cards

Golomt Bank introduced tailored - Suvd “Pearl,” Oyu “Turquoise,” and 
Carbon debit cards to fit its customers' different life styles. 

Zes “Copper” Credit Card

Zes - card was introduced in 2016 and has become the most popular 
VISA international MNT credit card in the Mongolian market. The card 
allows a 45 day interest-free repayment period and has an innovative 
design that enables easy removal from the wallet, complemented with 
an arrow showing the ATM / POS entry side. With these features, the 
Zes Card is leading the other credit cards in the market, and it alone 
occupies a 55.2% share of the Mongolian credit card market as of 2017 
year-end.

CUSTOMER CENTERED PRODUCTS & SERVICES

New Cards
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Car Financing - Auto Dealership Service

In 2016, Golomt Bank developed a car financing service, via Auto Dealership Services, that became a 
high-demand product in 2017. The service offers the Bank’s customers the opportunity to purchase 
certified automobiles and to exchange used vehicles for new ones.

The Auto Dealership Service is the product of a successful implementation of the Customer-Centric 
bank model, as it offers certified car sales and issues loans for the specific purchases all in one location.

National Savings Program

The National Savings Program was initiated by Golomt Bank in 2015 
and is designed to increase the national level of savings. Since its 
founding, this program has been successfully developing the habit of 
savings among the public and by 2017, the program has recruited over 
68,000 savers.

The National Savings Program stands-out in the market with its flexible 
and attractive rates, as the customer is able to choose the monthly 
deposit amounts. The program allows automated direct deposits from 
the customer’s current accounts, and features SMS message reminders, 
annual projections of the client’s savings, and the Bank rewards its 
customers with competitive savings rates and bonus.

FINTECH PRODUCTS & SOLUTIONS

In 2017, Golomt Bank introduced a new set of FinTech products to the market, providing the most 
convenient payment and information exchange services to its clients.
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Socialpay

Mobile application for money transfer and payments using the user’s mobile phone number, Facebook 
and Twitter accounts, or email address.

Digital Marketing and Sales 

Golomt Bank was the first bank to introduce digital services to its customers by developing platforms 
such as:
• cards.mn – Online sales platform for credit and debit card products
• hurimtlal.mn – Online registration platform for National Savings Program
• digital.golomtbank.com – General gateway to all of the Bank’s products and services

Since its launch in 2017 cards.mn has retailed about 5,000 cards - an equivalent of 37% of all credit 
cards acquired in the market. 

Chatbot Service for Customers

Digital marketing and sales application on Facebook Messenger.

Improvements in Internet and Smart Banking Solutions

Golomt Bank has been continuously upgrading its e-banking and mobile banking solutions with more 
user-friendly, secure, and smarter solutions.
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From March 2016 through December 2017, Golomt Bank successfully implemented its first Digital 
Sales Project in Mongolia. The success of the Digital Marketing and Sales Project is evidenced by the 
fact that 30% of all products sold by the Bank were executed through its digital platforms.

Self Service Zones - Kiosks

Golomt Bank has introduced new automated machines which allow its customers to automatically 
obtain bank loans, open savings accounts, obtain receipts, printout account information, transfer 
payments and make bank transactions for the first time in the Mongolian market.

Document Management System from NewGen /DMS/

The Bank implemented a unified system of digitization, archiving, and automation of all documents 
used throughout the bank as part of its efforts towards increased efficiency, information security and 
cost-effectiveness.

CUSTOMER EDUCATION AND KNOWLEDGE SHARING INITIATIVES

Management Forum

As part of our Customer Centric Strategy, the Bank initiated a platform where national corporate 
leaders can share their experience in management and technology. We successfully organized an 
inaugural MANAGEMENT FORUM, in which the country’s top 250 corporate clients’ senior leaders 
participated. The forum focused on providing the opportunity for corporations and executives 
to exchange their views, successes and experience in business management, innovation and 
performance improvement.
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As a result, founders, owners and managers of Mongolia’s leading companies developed and 
exchanged a number of valuable ideas that could be directly applied to their businesses.

Digital Transformation Conference

To foster the introduction and implementation of Digital Transformation in Mongolia, Golomt bank 
organized “Digital Transformation Conference 2017” for public and private sector participants.

Museum of the World Financial History

The World Financial History Museum was established to improve the financial education of the public 
and to demonstrate the fundamental nature of finance and its values.

The Museum is the first of its kind in Mongolia that displays original coins, bank notes, capital market 
documents, insurance certificates, accounting texts, settlement and legal documents with historic 
value. 98% of the exhibits are original pieces.

The Financial Philosophy Book 

The Financial Philosophy book, written by the bank’s 
CEO, Mr. Ganzorig U., is designed to assist and educate 
the Mongolian public on the fundamentals of the global 
financial market, their historical development, basic 
philosophy, and value.
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FINANCIAL 
HIGHLIGHTS

In 2017, Golomt Bank's Total Assets 
grew by 12%, reaching MNT 5.2 trillion 
and Customer Deposits grew by 23%, 

reaching MNT 3.5 trillion. For 2017, the 
Operating Profit from main business 
activities grew by 80% y.o.y. 
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KEY FINANCIAL INDICATORS

Profitability 

Golomt Bank posted a very strong operating result in 2017, which was offset by fair value charge for 
the Bank’s own fixed asset revaluation of MNT -20 billion, leading to a post-tax negative result of MNT 
-5 billion. In 2017, the Bank increased its Net Interest Income by 43% to MNT 122 billion and Net Fee & 
Commissions income by 27%. Due to a currency swap transaction booking impact of MNT -43 billion, 
operating profit decreased compared to last year. Excluding the swap impact, operating income 
reached MNT 174 billion, growing by 38% and operating profit reached MNT 88 billion, growing 80% 
y.o.y.

In 2017, all operating profitability indicators have improved compared to 2016, thanks to optimized 
Asset Liability Management, successful efforts in increasing efficiency, and better cost management. 
The bank increased its interest earning asset base, changed the structure of credit portfolio towards 
higher yielding segments, and strengthened its loan revenue collection, hence it was able to increase 
the Net Interest Margin from 2.8% (2016) to 3.3% (2017). Moreover, as a result of improved cost 
management, the Cost-Income Ratio has significantly improved and decreased from 61.2% (2016) to 
49% (2017) – excluding a one-time swap effect. 

Operating Income Operating Profit

Net Interset Margin Cost Income Ratio
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Prudential Ratios

The Bank was in compliance with all the Prudential Ratio requirements set by the Bank of Mongolia.

Golomt Bank’s liquidity continued to be very strong during 2017, which is attributable to a stable 
customer funds growth and conservative lending activity.

BALANCE SHEET 

Key Items

In 2017, Golomt Bank's Total Assets grew by 12% (by MNT 546 billion) and reached MNT 5.2 trillion, as 
a result of a growing number of customers and deposit increases, while credit growth was kept at a 
moderate level.

Capital Adequacy Ratio>14% Liquidity Ratio>25%

Total Assets /MNT billion/ Customer Deposits /MNT billion/
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Assets Structure

The share of revenue generating assets (loans, securities) in total assets increased to 68% from 58% in 
2017, driving the improved operating profitability.

Assets Structure 2017Assets Structure 2016

Net Loans /MNT billion/

Loan Portfolio

As Mongolia faced an economic downturn, 
loan portfolio shrank in 2015-2016. In 2017, 
net loans grew by 14% (MNT 283 billion). 
The main driver for the loan growth was the 
consumer loan portfolio, which grew by 
82% (MNT 210 billion), while the demand 
for corporate lending decreased especially 
in the first half of 2017. Corporate and SME 
lending was managed carefully by the Bank’s 
increasingly prudent credit underwriting 
policy. These are results of the successful 
implementation of targeted portfolio 
management and the Customer-Centric 
Business Model. 

Liabilities Structure

Liabilities Structure 2016 Liabilities Structure 2017

In 2017, customer deposits comprised 73% of total liabilities, relative to 67% in 2016. During the 
reporting period, customer deposits increased by MNT 651 billion, a 23% growth rate, which 
significantly impacted the liabilities structure, comprising 60% of the total growth. In contrast, the 
share of borrowed funds decreased from 28% in 2016 to 16% in 2017, due to the repayment of funds, 
including the Chinggis Bond funding of MNT 217 billion and internationally borrowed funds of USD 
100 million.
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Equity Capital

The Bank's equity has consistently grown 
over the years, but due to the recent 
economic downturn, the growth rate was 
reduced in the last few years.

In 2017, the Bank's Equity Capital grew by 
8% (MNT 35 billion), reaching MNT 489 
billion. The main drivers of this growth were 
capital gains on financial investments, and 
an additional subordinated loan from Bank’s 
main shareholder, recorded as Tier-2 capital, 
to support business growth.

Equity /MNT billion/
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Golomt Bank’s Five Year Financial Results 

Financial Result (MNT million) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Balance Sheet Indicators (MNT million)          

Total Assets 3,749,806 4,053,153 3,804,842 4,658,343 5,204,584 

Deposits 2,161,779 2,232,270 2,079,801 2,803,328 3,453,920 

Borrowed funds - Co-financed funds 1,032,319 1,011,499 1,014,935 1,195,870 757,897 

Net Loans 2,199,228 2,461,920 2,013,611 2,034,860 2,318,058 

Total Capital 329,740 393,736 428,181 453,707 488,675 

Profitability Indicators (MNT million)          

Interest Income 290,945 338,366 314,830 331,900 409,220 

Interest Expense (184,701) (209,312) (213,295) (246,416) (287,230)

Net Interest Income 106,245 129,054 101,534 85,484 121,990 

Net Non-Interest Income 59,774 36,197 58,454 63,200 8,615 

Operating Income 166,019 165,251 159,988 148,684 130,605 

Operating Income -without SWAP   165,251 159,988 126,308 173,822 

Operating Expense (67,116) (73,068) (75,362) (77,251) (85,583)

Operating Profit 98,903 92,182 84,626 71,433 45,021 

Operating Profit -without SWAP 98,903 92,182 84,626 49,057 88,238 

Credit, OREO and Receivables Provisioning Expense (27,940) (27,900) (51,900) (58,686) (36,947)

Decrease in value of properties charged to profit/loss  - - - - (20,158)

Pre-Tax Profit 70,963 64,283 32,726 12,746 (12,083)

Taxation (14,106) (14,455) (6,742) (7,473) 6,930 

Post -Tax Profit 56,857 49,828 25,985 5,274 (5,153)

Financial Structure Ratios 

Deposits ∕ Total Assets (%) 57.7% 55.1% 54.7% 60.2% 66.4%

Tier1 Capital∕ Total Assets (%) 6.6% 7.2% 8.3% 6.7% 6.2%

Net Loans ∕ Total Assets (%) 58.6% 60.7% 52.9% 43.7% 44.5%

Profitability          

Net Interest Margin (%) 4.6% 4.5% 4.2% 2.8% 3.3%

Cost Income Ratio (%) 40.4% 44.2% 47.1% 52.0% 65.5%

Cost Income Ratio -without SWAP (%) 40.4% 44.2% 47.1% 61.2% 49.2%

Prudential Ratios          

Capital Adequacy Ratio >14% 16.7% 17.1% 16.6% 14.8% 14.4%

Forex Exposure Ratios:      

Total Currency <+∕-40% 7.0% 9.9% 12.0% 15.0% 16.3%

Single Currency <+∕-15% -6.2% -9.5% 10.7% 7.5% 11.8%

Single Borrower Exposure/Capital funds <20% 15.9% 15.8% 18.2% 18.5% 16.8%

Related Party Exposure <5% 3.0% 4.6% 3.9% 4.6% 4.2%

Related Party Exposure-Total <20% 8.2% 15.8% 17.0% 17.0% 17.9%

Liquidity Ratio >25% 43.3% 38.2% 38.1% 44.8% 44.5%

Fixed Assets Ratio <8% 1.4% 2.3% 4.7% 5.1% 4.8%
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in 2017

OUR 
BUSINESS 
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RETAIL BANKING

Golomt Bank is the largest urban-retail bank in the country, serving the majority of the urban working 
population with state-of-the-art solutions including electronic and mobile banking, smart branches/
service centers, 24/7 service, and self-service facilities. All of the Bank’s branches have successfully 
implemented the Customer-Centric Business Model (40-urban, 20-cash desk, 40-rural area) 

Branch Network in the Country
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CORPORATE & SME BUSINESS

Golomt Bank provides full banking services to over 800 large corporates, nearly 2,800 SMEs, and major 
international organizations in Mongolia. During 2017, overall loans issued to large corporates increased 
by 41%, thereby maintaining a 20.5% market share. In 2017, the Bank also increased its deposit base 
from corporates and SMEs by 18% and 26% respectively. 

Corporate market

2017 Highlights & Major Programs Implemented

• In collaboration with the Ministry of Labor and Social Protection, the Bank has implemented a MNT 
20 billion micro-loan program for job creation throughout all 21 provinces of the country and 9 
districts of the capital city. In 2017, Golomt Bank disbursed a total of MNT 12 billion loans for 1,112 
SMEs, thereby supporting  5,175 jobs (new 2,432, maintained 2,693).

• The Bank introduced a new Supply Chain Financing Program. Under this scheme, the Bank 
cooperates with Oyu Tolgoi LLC, offering the necessary financing to domestic supplier companies 
to the OT underground mine project with easier and faster procedure and competitive conditions.

• Within three months, the Bank has fully utilized the first tranche of the US OPIC guaranteed loan 
from WorldBusiness Capital Inc., USA, for SMEs and agricultural sector development.

• The Bank successfully extended MNT 225 billion in financing for cashmere, wool, textile, and energy 
efficient, sustainable housing projects under a Mongolian Government program to support select 
industries. In total, 269 corporate and SME clients were involved and benefited from the financing. 
As a result, GDP contribution of these respective industries has increased by 0.4%, as reported by 
the National Statistical Office.

• Under the ADB Agriculture Development Program, the Bank on-lent MNT 5.5 billion funding to 
eligible SMEs.

• For the second consecutive year, Golomt Bank organized SME management forum in partnership 
with EBRD for entities introducing SME focused banking services.
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2017 Highlights in International Funding

• Golomt Bank established a long-term (8-year) credit agreement with World Business Capital, Inc. 
(WBC) under the guarantee of the U.S. Overseas Private Investment Corporation (OPIC) as part of its 
commitment to developing SME and agriculture sector in Mongolia.

•  Turk Eximbank and Golomt Bank signed a revolving Facility Agreement with a tenor of up to 10 
years in September 2017 to support Mongolian entities importing goods and services from Turkey.

•  The Bank also obtained a credit facility under the Commodity Credit Corporation program of United 
States Department of Agriculture (USDA) in partnership with Cargill US Inc.

•  The Bank engaged with Lendahand, Netherlands, a successful crowd-funding platform for SME and 
sustainable projects, and obtained a medium-term funding facility for SMEs to support job creation, 
environmentally friendly and socially responsible businesses.

•  Moreover, the Bank has also successfully obtained Trade Finance credit lines from SMBC, Japan, 
EXIM Bank of Russia, International Bank for Economic Cooperation (IBEC), and International 
Investment Bank (IIB).

INTERNATIONAL FUNDING AND COOPERATION

Golomt Bank partners with over 100 international banks and IFIs worldwide in the areas of 
correspondent banking, clearing, trade finance and services, treasury, ECA covered credit, medium and 
long-term funding as well as international custody services.

In 2017, Golomt Bank expanded its international funding base by MNT 175 billion (approximately USD 
72 million).
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Cross - Border Banking Cooperation
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International Funding Partners

International Institutions - Membership
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During 2017 the Bank has successfully financed import transactions carried out between Mongolia 
and foreign countries which include China, Russia, Japan, Korea, Germany, Spain, Netherlands, 
Denmark, Italy, France, Turkey, USA, Singapore, Malaysia, Vietnam, and the UAE.

China is the dominant trading partner of Mongolia, with a 64% share on foreign trade turnover. 
Capitalizing on its close cooperation with leading Chinese banks, as well as on its market reach to 
corporate and SME customers, Golomt Bank handled 56% of the total LCs (import and export LCs) 
issued between Mongolia and China. This has strategically positioned Golomt Bank in the China-
Mongolia trade financing business which is expected to continue growing.

International Trade Loans

The utilization of international trade loan has increased two-fold compared to 2016, reaching USD 
53 million. Golomt Bank has been cooperating with banks and Export Credit Agencies in the Czech 
Republic, Belgium, and Germany and successfully financed importing of equipment and machinery. 

TRADE FINANCE AND SERVICES

As one of the strategic business lines, the Bank has enhanced its Trade Finance and Services capacity 
in 2017 and is offering a wide range of trade finance products and services including export, import 
letters of credit, import loans, and guarantees.

In 2017, Golomt Bank’s trade finance volume has increased by 83% reaching USD 117.9 million and has 
become the 2nd ranked bank in terms of LC business, achieving 26% import and 41% export LC market 
share.
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TREASURY ACTIVITIES 

In 2017, the Bank significantly expanded its treasury activities and product offerings in line with its 
strategic goal to become the leading treasury solutions provider in Mongolia.

Golomt Bank became one of the two primary dealers in the B-Match, FX interbank market, and has 
been a stable market maker during the USD MNT rate fluctuation (between MNT 2350 – 2498) in 2017.

Golomt Bank executed 35% of the total interbank foreign currency trade turnover in 2017. Additionally, 
the Bank has also introduced innovative swap products into the market.

Besides the interbank market, Golomt Bank also focused on offering hedging opportunities, 
maintaining a narrow, competitive spread and actively trading foreign currency with corporate 
clients in the domestic market; as a result, the total foreign currency turnover increased by 53% in the 
reporting period.

#1 Bank in the Gold Market (percentage)

Due to the Bank’s strong liquidity, excess reserves were placed in US dollar and domestic currency bills 
and Mongolian Government bonds, thereby optimizing interest yield in line with market conditions.

The Bank also took a significant market-making role in Tugrik denominated Mongolian Government 
debt instruments traded on both Mongolian Stock Exchange and Central Bank systems. 

As another major achievement, the 
Bank significantly expanded the trading 
activities of physical gold in 2017 by 
leveraging its corporate client base, and 
Customer-Centric Business Model, while 
reaching a substantial market share in 
excess of 56%. The volume of physical 
gold trading increased 12 times in 2017 as 
compared to 2016.
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CUSTODIAN BANKING SERVICES

In 2017, Golomt Bank secured its key player role with its cutting-edge custodian solution that enables 
a comprehensive suite of securities services. The Bank’s custodian business distinguished itself from its 
competitors by its  number of clients and volume of safekeeping assets. The total assets under custody 
grew to MNT 40 billion for the reporting period.

2017 Highlights: 

• Golomt Bank and its Custody service were selected to act as a sub-custodian for Mongolia by 
a leading global custodian following a competitive tender process. The Bank believes that this 
engagement will enhance the accessibility and attractiveness of Mongolian capital market for 
international investors.

•  Golomt Bank has also obtained the license on securities ownership registration and started serving 
its clients in the securities market.

•  The Bank has expanded its institutional client base with 13 domestic and 5 foreign entities and 
entered agreements on providing securities market services in Mongolia to 7 brokerage firms.

CAPITAL MARKET BUSINESS - GOLOMT CAPITAL LLC

Golomt Capital LLC is a wholly owned subsidiary and investment banking arm of the Bank 
providing securities brokerage and underwriting services. In 2017, Golomt Capital LLC was the 4th 
largest brokerage firm by trading volume, and it conducted 8.5% of the total trading volume on the 
Mongolian Stock Exchange.

Urban Bond I, II: Worked as an underwriter for Denimon LLC’s MNT 1.075 billion private placement 
bonds and successfully concluded secondary market trading.

ММF Bond II: Worked as an underwriter for MMF Non-Bank Financial Institution LLC’s MNT 750 million 
closed bonds and successfully concluded the trading.

Suu Bond: Golomt Capital acted as an underwriter for Suu Joint Stock Company's MNT 6 billion public 
bond issue. Suu Bond is the largest corporate bond on the Mongolian stock market to date, and it was 
successfully issued in a very short period (in 3 business days) with oversubscription.
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INTERNAL PROCESS & 
RESOURCE MANAGEMENT
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HUMAN RESOURCE 

Training Expense (MNT million)

Training Time (in hours)

Number of Employees Trained (by man-days)

The Bank highly values the professional and personal growth of its employees and has been 
continuously investing in its human capital. In the last 3 years, investments in HR training and 
development increased by 57%.

Training and development programs do not only focus on developing the professional skills of the 
Bank’s employees, but also focus on increasing productivity and strengthening corporate culture with 
psychological and behavioral approaches.

Major Training and Development Programs

All Employee Development Program - “The Summer Academy” 

To improve Leadership & People management skills of all senior and middle-level managers, the Bank 
successfully organized an extended development program with 4 main modules. Over the summer, 
the program involved over 240 managers for 43 hours within a 2 month period. The main purpose of 
the program was to share the knowledge of each manager to create a unified understanding about 
each division and department within the bank. 
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“Financial Mentor” - Development Program for Sales Managers

13 mentors were chosen under the program which aims to implement the psychology-based sales 
strategy. Currently over 200 sales managers have participated in the program and the program will 
continue in 2018.

Training on the Bank’s Core Values to All Employees

The training program which introduced the latest Bank Values incorporated 800 employees. It was 
successfully co-organized with Mr. Abe Tadashi, CEO of U Hope LLC which is a Japanese corporation 
with 40 years of experience.

Comprehensive Programs for Senior Managers 

• We Lead the Bank: Senior manager seminar
•  Top Executive Leadership Program: Individual coaching provides top executives the personal 

insight and perspective that will help them unlock their leadership potential and refine key 
leadership skills needed to achieve impactful, tangible results.

•  Challenge for Growth: The Bank provides opportunities for all management level employees to lead 
projects to improve their leadership and project management skills

•  Productivity-Workshop Department Directors
•  Development Program for Branch Directors
•  Simulation training to prepare Branch Directors
•  2-month training on speaking and presentation skills.

New Employee Onboarding Program

To form and manage the mindset of new employees of the bank, the Bank conducts “New Employee 
Onboarding Program” under the following 3 categories:
•  Onboarding Program for Front-line Employees 
•  Onboarding Program for Head Office Employees 
•  Onboarding Program for Senior Managers of Branches
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Star Employee and Star Managers

Since 2016, Golomt Bank has been rewarding employees as “Star Employee” and “Star Managers” 
based on their extraordinary achievements and contributions to the development of the Bank with 
significant prizes. For example, in 2017, Golomt Bank awarded one "Star Employee" with a luxury 
vehicle and two "Star Managers" with apartments. 

Professional Training 

In 2017, a number of training courses were implemented for technical, professional, and other soft 
skills in accordance with the Integrated Training Plan. The plan supported the training of the Head 
Office employees and IT personnel.
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CORPORATE 
SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY
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Financial Education for General Public

•  Opened the World Financial Museum under the initiative of Golomt Bank's CEO Mr. U. Ganzorig  to 
enhance the financial knowledge of the general public and to introduce the historical facts of the 
world financial development. 

•  ceonetwork.mn - By applying the "Sharing is Caring" mindset, Senior managers and employees of 
Golomt Bank share their knowledge and know-how on this website with the goal of helping the 
Bank’s clients and their businesses grow.

•  Knowledge sharing via public media and the website www.edu.golomtbank.com with enriched 
financial and economical concepts in an easy to understand manner.

Supporter of Young Generation Education

Golomt Bank has displayed strong leadership in the business community and education field by 
starting series of programs to support students.
•  The Bank gave scholarships worth of MNT 1 billion to 1,300 students.
•  In 2017, the Bank organized the 17th Student Research Conference.
•  Golomt Bank also financed the “Student Green Initiative Scholarship” hosted by the Mongolian 

National University of Commerce and Business.

Employee Pension Fund

•  Golomt Bank continued to expand employee enrollment in the Bank’s pension fund in 2017. The 
fund is intended to provide future savings for the employees’ wellbeing after retirement with the 
matching of contributions by each employee.

Promoting Art and Culture

•  For the sixth year in a row, Golomt Bank has continued to cooperate with the Mongolian Morin 
Khuur Association to promote, spread, and introduce Mongolian folk arts to the world.

•  Supports the Mongolian State Academic Theatre of Drama to promote and present Mongolian 
classic art to the world and vice versa.

Promoter of Sustainable Financing

•  Golomt Bank is the only Mongolian member in the United Nation’s Environmental Program, UNEP 
FI, and plays a leading role in attracting best international practice to Mongolia.

•  The Bank aims to facilitate favorable funding for environmentally sustainable projects in Mongolia 
and is actively working towards obtaining accreditation from the Green Climate Fund.
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

Golomt Bank is committed to 
safeguarding the interests of its 
stakeholders and fully complies 

with internationally accepted Corpo-
rate Governance standards.
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Golomt Bank's Vision - to become the “Mongolia’s Global Benchmark” bank - does not only apply to 
the business side of the bank but also applies to the corporate governance practices of the bank. The 
Bank aims to be renowned for its exemplary good governance, and to pave the way for other regional 
banks.
 
The Bank believes that a responsible approach to governance is an essential factor for its long-term 
success and sustainability. 

Corporate Governance Structure
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SHAREHOLDERS

•  Golomt Financial Group (GFG) is a group holding company and the major shareholder of the bank. 
It holds equity investments in financial sector businesses and is solely owned by Mr. Bayasgalan 
Danzandorj, who is one of the founders and the former CEO and Chairman of Golomt Bank.

•  Golomt Investments Limited was established in 2014 as the subsidiary and investment vehicle of 
Bodi International LLC. It is solely owned by Mr. Bayasgalan Danzandorj, who is one of the founders 
and the former CEO and Chairman of Golomt Bank.

•  Swiss-MO Investments AG is an investment fund that holds equity interests in exchange, airports, 
airlines and hotel businesses. It is mainly owned by leading Swiss philanthropist and investor, Mr. 
Urs Ernst Schwarzenbach.

•  Fortunate Golomt represents 149 key employees of the Bank under the Employee Stock Ownership 
Program (ESOP). Although the share portion is 1.33%, the shareholders allowed employee 
representation on the Board and assigned one seat to ESOP. 

In addition to the common shareholders, Mr. Zorigt Munkhchuluun, a Mongolian citizen and one of 
the founders of the Bank, owns preferred shares in Golomt Bank. 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The decisions of the Board of Directors are made independently, with a focus on the medium and 
long-term stability and prosperity of the Bank, while considering the risk-reward relation of each 
subject matter and compliance with the Bank’s policies. In 2017, the Board of Directors met 11 times, 
resolved a total of 48 issues or matters, and most importantly, the Board approved a new two-year 
business strategy. The average attendance was 91% in 2017.

As of 2017 year end, there was no change in the Board’s composition. The Board composition changed 
in the first quarter of 2018.

•  Mr. James Bernand Dwyer was appointed as a new Independent Board Member, from February 
2018.

•  Mr. Temuun Zorigt served as a Board Member for 2017 and resigned from the Board in March 2018.

Mrs. Munkhtsetseg Chultem
Chairwoman

Mrs. Munkhtsetseg has been the Chair of the Board since 
December 2013. A former consultant to the World Bank, 
Mrs. Munkhtsetseg’s previous professional experiences 
include managerial and executive roles at the Mongolian 
Stock Exchange, Asian Development Fund, and Nepko 
Publishing Company.

Mr. Munkhtur Dagva 
Member

Mr. Munkhtur started his career at Golomt Bank in 1996, 
he previously served as the Director of Credit Division, 
Operations Division, and Executive VP & COO. Mr. 
Munkhtur was appointed as a member of the Board in 
December 2012. 

Mr. Urs Ernst Schwarzenbach
Member

Mr. Schwarzenbach has been a member of the Board since 
2011. He was awarded an honorary Doctorate of Law from 
St. Francis Xavier University in Nova Scotia, Canada. He is 
the Honorary Consul of Mongolia for the German-speaking 
part of Switzerland.
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Mr. James Bernand Dwyer
Independent Member

Mr. Dwyer joined the Bank’s Board in 2018. He has an 
extensive 20 years of international investment banking 
experience in executive roles at the Business Council of 
Mongolia, M&A in the Union Bank Switzerland, Khan Bank, 
and TDB.

Mr. Unenbat Jigjid
Independent Member
 
Mr. Unenbat joined our Board in 2010 as an independent 
member. After his role as a Governor of the Bank of 
Mongolia in 1996, he became the executive director
of the Corporate Governance Development Center, 
an organization with the goal of advancing corporate 
governance of Mongolian companies. Currently, Mr. 
Unenbat is working as the president of the Mongolian 
Banker’s Association. 

Mr. Antonio López Abelló 
Independent Member
 
Mr. Abello has been an Independent Member of the Board 
since 2014. He is a highly experienced professional who 
previously held senior positions at Credit Suisse, Goldman 
Sachs, and BNP Paribas.

Board Committees:

•  Audit Committee;
•  Risk Management Committee;
•  Governance, Ethic, Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

The Audit Committee

The Audit Committee reviews the Bank’s financial position and makes recommendations on all 
financial matters. Its functions include supervising general corporate governance, activities of the 
Internal Audit Division, compliance with laws and regulations, quality and completeness of the Bank’s 
financial statements and the independence of the external auditors.
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•  The independent director, Mr. Unenbat Jigjid was appointed as the new chair of the Audit 
Committee on July 6th, 2017.

Golomt Bank is a member of the Institute of Internal Auditors and the Information System Audit and 
Control Association (ISACA). The Audit Committee has 4 members of whom 2 are independent. The 
Audit Committee met 13 times resolving 60 issues and matters in 2017.

The Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee is responsible for creating a unified risk management framework. 
It defines the methodological approaches for the assessment of each type of risk, including credit, 
liquidity, interest rate and foreign exchange risks, as well as compliance, operational and IT-related risks, 
and for making appropriate recommendations regarding the measurement, assessment, mitigation, 
and limitation of risks. In 2017, the Risk Management Committee met 11 times, resolving 30 issues and 
matters.

The Governance, Ethic, Remuneration and Nomination Committee

The Governance, Ethic, Remuneration, and Nomination Committee ensures that there are formal and 
transparent Human Resource procedures and policies within the Bank and makes recommendations 
for the appointment of the Executive Management Team. It also oversees the Bank’s overall compliance 
with Code of Conduct and other related procedures. The Committee met 4 times resolving 10 issues 
and matters in 2017.
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EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM 

Mr. Ganzorig Ulziibayar
Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Ganzorig was appointed as CEO in May 2016. He joined 
the Bank as President in January 2015. He held various 
senior positions as Chairman of Mandal Insurance, CEO of 
Tenger Insurance, Deputy CEO of Ulaanbaatar City Bank 
and Advisor to the CEO of Xac Bank.

Mr. Ganbold Galsan
President

Mr. Ganbold was the CEO of the Bank during 2012-2015, 
and re-joined the bank as President in August 2016. He has 
been with the Bank since 2000 and held various executive 
roles including Chief Operating Officer and Director of 
Operations of the Bank.

Mr. Tomas Bravenec 
Deputy CEO (Financial Management, Treasury, 
Funding & FI)

Mr. Tomas Bravenec joined the Bank in November 2016. 
He is an internationally experienced banker with a 25 year 
track record at leading European and global banks and 
International Financial Institutions, including Citibank and 
the EBRD.

Mrs. Nyamsuren Tumur-Ochir
Deputy CEO (Credit)

Mrs. Nyamsuren has been with the Bank since 2001. She 
held various senior management positions, including 
Senior Economist, Senior Manager in the Risk Management 
Division, Head of Credit Risk Management Department 
and Director of Credit Division.
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Mr. Selenge Jadamba
Deputy CEO (COO)

Mr. Selenge was appointed as the Deputy CEO responsible 
for Human Resource and Operations of the Bank in March 
2017. Prior to joining the Bank, Mr. Selenge was the 
founder and CEO of HumanFortis Co.Ltd, which became 
a pioneering management consulting company in 
Mongolia. 

Mr. Tserendavaa Namuu 
Deputy CEO (CIO)

Mr. Tserendavaa has been with the Bank since 1998. He has 
over 20 years of experience working in banking IT and has 
played key roles in all major IT-based projects of the Bank. 
Since 2004, he served as the Director of the IT Division and 
Chief Information Officer.
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RISK 
MANAGEMENT

Golomt Bank fully acknowledges the 
importance of optimal risk and return 
balance and is committed to applying 

risk based approach within all levels of the 
bank, while safeguarding the interests of its 
shareholders, depositors, customers, clients 
and other stakeholders. 
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Business Unit is responsible for its operational risk
Assess risk and return when making decisions
Check and review the adherence of Business units’ operations to the RAF/RAS

Independent monitoring of the risk management implementation 
Identify and monitor risk boundaries, report on risk management 
Monitor Business Units risk factors and activities
Organize Risk management training and workshops

Independent assurance on the reliability, adequacy, and 
effectiveness of internal control system, risk management, and 45 
governance frameworks. 

RISK GOVERNANCE

Within the Bank, the risk governance is composed of following bodies:

• Board of Directors - approves all risk management policies and risk limits and monitors 
implementation through the Board Risk Management Committee on a quarterly basis.

•  Executive Management - enforces and implements risk policies and risk limits within the approved 
boundaries.

•  Risk Management Division - Risk Management Division implements the Bank’s risk management 
independently from the business units.

•  Executive Risk Management Committee - ensures bank-wide risk management policy 
implementation and oversees a risk-based approach to decision-making.

•  Credit Committees - make decisions according to the risk management policy and credit limits 
approved by the Board, approve credit procedures and regulations, provide guidance, and oversee 
the implementation of the risk management policies.

•  Asset and Liability Committee - ensures the effective management of assets, liabilities, profitability, 
and manages them within the approved risk framework.

Each employee of Golomt Bank is required to comply with the risk management culture by acquiring 
proper education through extensive risk management trainings that help develop a responsible 
mindset which is in line with the risk management guidelines. 

Golomt Bank’s Risk Governance has a three-line defense structure:
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RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The main goal of the Bank’s Risk Management Framework is to ensure the Bank’s profitability, improve 
its market position, and foster the ability to adapt to an ever-changing business environment within 
the approved risk limits.

Golomt Bank’s “Risk Appetite Framework/Risk Appetite Statement” (RAF/RAS) states the types and 
degrees of risk acceptable by the Bank. It covers 15 types of risk such as market risk, credit risk, liquidity 
risk, operational risk, compliance risk, third-party risk, legal risk, reputation risk, IT risk, etc., and consists 
of following three main parts:

•  Identifying risk appetite and the Bank’s strategic plan
•  Reviewing the risk levels and adherence to the risk boundaries
•  Strategic decision making based on stress test projections

Risk Management Framework (RMF)

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT

Credit Risk Management Department is responsible for managing the quality of the Bank’s loan 
portfolio, minimization of credit risks, and developing the Credit Risk Policy for the Board’s approval. 
The Credit Risk Department adopts and implements international and domestic risk management 
standards and guidance into the Bank’s operations. The Bank manages its credit risk by analyzing its 
historical data and loan portfolio qualitative indicators and conducting stress tests tied to economic 
conditions. Golomt Bank uses “Watchlist Process” in order to detect credit risk before its occurrence and 
loan portfolio quality alert indicators for its credit risk management.

In 2018, the Bank plans to fully implement the IFRS 9 standard and introduce the fully automated 
“CLOS,” “RLOS” systems based on the customer’s behavioral credit scoring and credit rating model. This 
will enable the Bank to speed up and fully automate the loan process from application to approval.
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Special Assets Unit

Recognizing the importance of a proactive problem loan management, Golomt bank directed 
increased managerial focus, as well as human resources to its Special Assets Unit. The staffing was 
increased by more than a three-fold and the direct responsibility for this function was assigned to the 
Head of the Risk Management Division. As a result, Golomt Bank was able to actively manage its loan 
portfolio and NPL ratio for the 2017 year end was 4.69% according to IFRS standards.

MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT

Market risk management is responsible for mitigating the risks associated with FX, interest rate, 
commodity price fluctuation, and optimal risk-return management implementation. Golomt Bank 
periodically reviews its internal limits and fully complies with international and the Bank of Mongolia’s 
requirements. The Bank publishes its macroeconomic research, sector analysis and market forecasts on 
a regular basis and makes it available for public’s use while continuing to improve its forecast models.

Liquidity and Interest Risk

Golomt Bank has always been in compliance with the liquidity ratio and other ratio requirements set 
by the Bank of Mongolia. In addition, the Bank complies with Basel III standard LCR (Liquidity Coverage 
Ratio) and NSFR (Net Stable Funding Ratio). Golomt Bank monitors GAP reports on repayment time of 
its interest sensitive assets and liabilities.

FX and Commodity Price Risk

Golomt Bank complies with prudential ratios set by the Bank of Mongolia and VaR limits set by the 
Asset and Liability Committee. The Bank manages its FX and commodity price risks by adhering to the 
commodity and FX (single and all currency) open positions, and stop-loss limits approved by Asset and 
Liability Committee.
 

OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Golomt Bank successfully implements best international practices in its operational risk management, 
which include: 
• Introduction of a three-line defense structure to effectively prevent/manage risk.
•  All bank units manage their risks using a self-risk assessment methodology.
•  Key Risk Indicators covering all bank processes are used to monitor operational risk.
•  “Advanced Measurement Approach” methodology recommended by the Basel Committee is used 

to calculate the expected operational risk based on historic data. Operational risk provisions are 
established based on such calculations.

We organize security awareness seminars to our customers on financial fraud and cybersecurity 
measures on a regular basis.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

Internal Audit Division operates independently and reports to the Board of Directors and Audit 
Committee. The division reports operationally related information to the CEO. The main functions of 
the Internal Audit Division are to audit and give recommendation on following issues:
• •The compliance with related laws and regulations by the Bank and the executive management 

decisions and actions
•  Give an opinion on adequate management and accuracy of the Bank’s financial statements
•  Give an opinion on whether internal control and risk management are conducted within approved 

limits
•  Executive management’s compliance with decisions and policies approved by Board of Directors
•  Give an opinion whether the executive management’s decisions are based in the Bank’s risk 

management framework.

Internal Audit Division uses Specific Risk Assessment approach recommended by IIA Global and the 
3+9 principle is adopted. The 3+9 principle refers to the possibility to make amendments in annual 
audit plan every quarter based on quarterly risk assessment results.

COMPLIANCE

Compliance function focuses on identification of potential compliance risks, prevention, and 
minimum risk level maintenance.

Golomt Bank is committed to meeting all international standards on AML/CTF, implementing strict 
KYC procedure and applying risk-based approach to the customer monitoring system. The Compliance 
Department operates independently under the direct supervision of the CEO, and ensures the effective 
implementation of international and domestic laws and regulations, and the bank’s internal Code of 
Governance and Ethics.

AML/CFT Compliance

The Bank cross-references customers and counterparties against sanction lists such as the UN 
consolidated list, US, and EU sanction lists (OFAC SDN list, UN list of designated terrorist individuals and 
entities etc.)

Regarding its correspondent banks in the U.S., the Bank complies with the requirements by the 
U.S. Patriot Act, and has an agreement with a Process Agent in the U.S. since 2011, as a measure 
of compliance to the Sections 313 and 319 (B) of the U.S Patriot Act. In 2016, the agreement was 
extended. The Bank became FATCA-compliant in April 2014.

In 2017, the Bank revised its Compliance Policy, Whistleblowing Policy and AML Procedure in line with 
international standards, and newly approved Anti-Bribery Procedure and Compliance Risk Assessment 
Methodology.
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Fully automated AML program

To enhance our capacity, Golomt Bank invested in a fully automated, state of the art AML 
monitoring system (AMLOCK) in order to maintain an effective internal control system for AML/CFT 
risk management in 2017. The AMLOCK system automatically checks suspicious transactions and 
customers against sanction lists, increasing the security and efficiency of Golomt bank’s compliance 
functions.

Compliance Culture

The Bank’s Compliance Officers have earned the Certified Compliance Specialist credential which is 
recognized by businesses and public agencies worldwide. These compliance officers, in turn, spread 
Compliance knowledge and culture to all bank employees by organizing compliance seminars and 
workshops. 
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OPERATING 
ENVIRONMENT   
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MACRO-ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

2017 - a year of recovery

Since 2011 when the Mongolian economic growth reached whopping 17.3%, growth dramatically 
declined over the period, creating economic vulnerabilities, and the policy makers faced some 
challenging moments. Fortunately, the price of the mining commodities in the global market has 
increased significantly, enabling not only the mining industries to boom again but also non-mining 
sectors, which increased export income and affected positively to the balance of payment in 2017. 
During this palatable global macro-economic situation, Bank of Mongolia conducted expansionary 
monetary policy, supporting the growth of the Mongolian economy. Also, the repayment of foreign 
debt was settled with less pressure to the domestic market and the Extended Fund Facility program 
conducted by IMF positively affected the increase of the foreign currency flow. Thus, the economic 
growth reached 5.1% in 2017 compared to 1.2% in 2016.

Economic Growth 1990 - 2017

Structure of Economic Growth

Source: National Statistics Office

Source: National Statistics Office

The main factor of the economic growth was the investment in the mining industry which indirectly 
affected the upswing of other sectors such as transportation, trade, and service while increasing the 
net tax on products. The last 1.5 years of shrank in the mining sector was due to Oyu-Tolgoi LLC’s 
(Turquoise Hill) copper concentration decrease. 
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Foreign Direct Investmen
in USD million

Foreign Trade Balance
in USD million

Credit Rating (Moody's agency)

Source: Bank of Mongolia

Source: National Statistics OfficeSource: National Statistics Office

Mongolian government issued international bond (Khuraldai bond) with 8.75% coupon for 600 million 
USD in March 2017 and, issued Gerege bond with 5.625% coupon for 800 million USD in October 2017 
which decreased the coupon rate by 3 percent in 6 months period. As a result of positive changes 
in the economy, Fitch rating agency improved Mongolia’s rating outlook stable to positive. Foreign 
sector’s good conditions and BOP’s surplus affected MNT rate to depreciate against the USD by 2 
percent and fall to MNT 2433.5. 

In terms of Inflation, it was low due to import decline. Furthermore, the bank of Mongolia targeted the 
inflation rate below 8 percent, and it performed at 6.4 percent at the end of 2017.

BANKING SECTOR

The positive economic situations benefitted the banking sector with tangible outcomes. To name a 
few, total asset of banking sector increased by 13.6% YoY, reaching to 28.8 trillion MNT. Furthermore, 
the deposit dollarization from customers decreased from 36.5% to 29% due to USD/MNT depreciation, 
and the annual profit of the banking sector grew by 41.1% YoY. 

In 2017, total export increased by 26.1% YoY, reaching MNT 6 billion. The main factors of the export 
income were Oyu-Tolgoi’s copper export, totaling USD 939 million, 15.1% of the total export and Tavan-
Tolgoi LC’s coal export, totaling USD 578.9 million, 9.3% of the total export. The import increased by 
29.1% YoY, reaching USD 4.3 mln due to the high demand of mining machineries and their fuels, etc. 
Thus, higher export increase resulted in profitable foreign trade balance for 4 years, resulting in MNT 1.8 
bln in 2017. 

Moreover, FDI increased by two folds, reaching USD 
792.1 mln, which positively affected in the financial 
account surplus. Therefore, the balance of payment 
surplus was USD 1.2 mln in 2017, which was a result 
of not only the high export growth but also the 
foreign currency inflow from the Extended Fund 
Facility program and Gerege bond.
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Source: Bank of Mongolia

Return on EquityPolicy Rate

The highlight of 2017 in the banking sector was the Asset Quality Review (AQR) conducted through 
IMF’s Extended Fund Facility program. As a result of the AQR, Mongolian Banking sector liquidity was 
rated as stable with liquidity ratio of 45% and capital adequacy ratio of 13.7%.

For liability side of the banking sector, one of the main change was the rapid increase in the domestic 
deposits. Money supply (M2) increased to 30% YoY, reaching to MNT 15.8 trillion. In terms of the M2 
structure, MNT deposit growth reached to 49% YoY, which is the highest of the other components 
and the foreign currency deposit was at MNT 2.8 trillion, which grew by 46% YoY. In contrast, foreign 
currency deposit decreased by 9% YoY to MNT 2.5 trillion in 2017.

Money supply and Outstanding loan
Trillion ₮ 

Historically, theres is a tight correlation between M2 and outstanding loan but with delay. Due to the 
stable growth of M2, increase in the outstanding loan is expected for next 2-3 years.

There were major changes in the asset structure in 2017, such as 37% YoY decrease in the foreign 
assets and 27% YoY in the Government securities. In contrast, central bank’s securities grew by 6 times, 
reaching MNT 3.4 trillion and the outsanding loan grew by 9.5% YoY. Moreover, retail loan grew by 18% 
YoY and corporate loan decreased by 3.2% YoY. The NPL ratio was 8.5%, same as 2016. It means the 
economic growth haven’t affected the asset quality yet. Thus, the decrease in the non performing asset 
is expected in the coming years due to improved macro condition.  
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GOLOMT BANK

International Financial Reporting Standards 
Consolidated Financial Statements and 
Independent Auditor’s Report

31 December 2017



56

Golomt Bank
GOLOMT BANK LLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
Corporate Information

Incorporation decision Golomt Bank (the “Bank”) was incorporated as a wholly owned subsidiary  of Bodi International LLC in accordance 
with the decision of shareholders   of Bodi International LLC on 06 March 1995.

Golomt Securities LLC (the “subsidiary”), as wholly owned subsidiary of Golomt Bank was incorporated as Limited 
Liability Company in accordance with decision No.01 dated 17 May 2011. The subsidiary was renamed as Golomt 
Capital in 2017.

Certificate and License The Bank holds the State Registration Certificate No. 9016001014 with reg- istration No.2075377 newly granted to 
the Bank by the State Registration Office of Mongolia on 05 December 2005.
The Bank holds the Special License No. 25 for Banking Activities dated 06 March 1995 issued by the Bank of Mongolia.

The Subsidiary holds the State Registration Certificate  No.  9011287134 with registration No.5481589 newly granted 
to the Subsidiary by the State Registration Office of Mongolia on 02 November 2011.

The Subsidiary holds the Special License No. 3/97 for Capital Market Ac- tivities in accordance with Resolution No. 317 
dated 02 November 2011 issued by the Financial Regulatory Commission of Mongolia.

Board of Governors Ch.Munkhtsetseg Chairwoman
Z.Temuun Member
Urs E. Schwarzenbach Member
D.Munkhtur Member
J.Unenbat Independent Member
López Abelló Independent Member

Executive Officers U.Ganzorig Chief Executive Officer President
G.Ganbold President
Tomas Bravenec Deputy CEO
T.Nyamsuren Deputy CEO
N.Tserendavaa Deputy CEO
J.Selenge Deputy CEO
M.Chimegmunkh Director of Financial Management Division
B.Enkhtuya Director of Business Development Division
A.Enkhbayar Director of Risk Management Division
B.Bayartbileg Director of Credit Division
Yo.Purevbat Director of Operations Division
U.Khosjargal Director of Channel Management Division
D.Badral Director of Corporate Banking Division
M.Sainbileg Director of Information Technology Division
A.Odonbaatar Director of Audit Division
B.Zolboo Director of Treasury Division
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Registered office Head Office of Golomt bank
Sukhbaatar Square 5,
P.O.Box 22
Ulaanbaatar 15160, Mongolia

Auditors PwC Audit LLC
Central Tower, Floor 6, Suite 
601 Sukhbaatar Square, SDB-8 
Ulaanbaatar 14200, Mongolia
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Golomt Bank
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Golomt Bank
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Note

Group Bank

31 December
2017

31 December
2016

31 December
2017

31 December
2016

Assets
Cash and balances with central bank (other than mandatory reserve) 7 222,779,111 317,585,827 222,351,578 316,801,192
Mandatory cash balances with the Bank of Mongolia 8 395,029,289 315,633,095 395,029,289 315,633,095
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9 250,270,731 395,641,113 249,076,344 395,422,594
Reverse sale and repurchase agreement 10 - 9,995,766 - 9,995,766
Due from other banks 11 592,304,403 792,154,555 592,304,403 792,154,555
Loans and advances to customers 12 2,318,058,202 2,034,859,755 2,318,058,202 2,034,859,755
Short-term investment securities 13 632,003,148 41,979,911 632,003,148 41,979,911
Investment securities available for sale 14 218,616,988 126,165,928 218,616,988 126,165,928
Investment securities held to maturity 15 145,539,393 121,553,766 144,822,457 120,274,349
Investment properties 16 57,505,587 51,291,334 57,505,587 51,291,334
Investment in subsidiary 17 - - 1,200,000 1,200,000
Derivative financial instruments 40 75,466,402 177,021,621 75,466,402 177,021,621
Other assets 18 43,861,887 28,381,165 44,330,748 28,333,835
Intangible assets 19 13,616,834 13,948,312 13,616,825 13,946,737
Premises and equipment 20 140,594,973 171,022,155 140,555,122 171,008,642
Repossessed collateral 21 47,090,786 44,809,609 47,090,786 44,809,609
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 22 52,556,417 17,444,424 52,556,417 17,444,424

Total assets 5,205,294,151 4,659,488,336 5,204,584,296 4,658,343,347
 
Liabilities
Due to other banks 23 388,192,233 121,902,017 388,192,233 121,902,017
Customer accounts 24 3,454,091,632 2,803,875,469 3,453,919,747 2,803,327,560
Other borrowed funds 25 757,897,323 1,195,869,997 757,897,323 1,195,869,997
REPO arrangements 26 47,343,007 37,408,551 47,343,007 37,408,551
Current income tax liability 34 6,035,111 - 6,035,111 -
Deferred tax liability 34 9,549,724 10,678,082 9,551,071 10,679,318
Provision for credit related commitments 39 673,275 793,072 673,275 793,072
Other liabilities 27 52,394,296 34,093,768 52,240,676 34,055,598
Subordinated debt 28 97,042,814 87,733,803 97,042,814 87,733,803

Total liabilities 4,813,219,415 4,292,354,759 4,812,895,257 4,291,769,916
 
Equity
Preferred shares 29 25,778,900 25,778,900 25,778,900 25,778,900
Share capital 29 26,367,593 26,367,593 26,367,593 26,367,593
Share premium 46,583,557 46,583,557 46,583,557 46,583,557
Retained earnings 218,919,388 240,998,876 218,533,691 240,438,730
Other reserves 74,425,298 27,404,651 74,425,298 27,404,651
 
Total equity 392,074,736 367,133,577 391,689,039 366,573,431

Total liabilities and equity 5,205,294,151 4,659,488,336 5,204,584,296 4,658,343,347

Approved for issue and signed on behalf of the Bank’s management on 30 March 2018.

The notes set out on pages 8 to 112 form an integral part of these financial statements.

M. CHIMEGMUNKH
Chief Financial Officer

U. GANZORIG
Chief Executive Officer

CH. MUNKHTSETSEG 
Chairwoman, Board of Governors
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Golomt Bank
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Note

Group Bank

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 2017 2016 2017 2016

Interest income 30 409,493,040 332,107,188 409,219,855 331,899,510
Interest expense 30 (287,227,650) (246,411,088) (287,229,507) (246,415,535)

Net interest income 122,265,390 85,696,100 121,990,348 85,483,975
Provision for loan impairment 12 (33,411,559) (51,903,798) (33,411,559) (51,903,798)

Net interest income after provision for loan impairment 88,853,831 33,792,302 88,578,789 33,580,177

Fee and commission income 31 36,693,542 28,441,027 35,650,124 27,982,366
Fee and commission expense 31 (10,174,186) (7,699,015) (9,808,785) (7,608,826)
Gains less losses from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9 3,381,623 966,643 3,370,866 960,857
Gains less losses from financial derivatives 40 (65,296,303) 136,753,014 (65,296,303) 136,753,014
Gains less losses from trading in foreign currencies and precious metals 16,979,721 15,124,620 16,979,721 15,124,620
Gains less losses from disposals of investment securities available for sale 1,877,287 - 1,877,287 -
Foreign exchange translation gains less losses 21,027,625 (111,669,509) 21,033,400 (111,710,252)
Provision charge for other assets 18 (167,175) (3,646,340) (167,175) (3,644,340)
Impairment charge for buildings (20,157,623) - (20,157,623) -
Provision charge for repossessed collateral 21 286,172 (2,345,199) 286,172 (2,345,199)
Provision charge for guarantee and LC 119,797 (793,072) 119,797 (793,072)
Provision for non-current asset held for sale (3,774,036) - (3,774,036) -
Dividend received 2,729,968 306,444 3,290,112 306,444
Other operating income 32 1,531,384 1,397,036 1,518,163 1,391,723
Administrative and other operating expenses 33 (86,150,129) (77,568,743) (85,583,444) (77,251,293)

(Loss)/Profit before tax (12,238,502) 13,059,208 (12,082,935) 12,746,219
Income tax expense/(credit) 34 6,911,199 (7,471,460) 6,930,081 (7,472,658)

(Loss)/Profit for the year (5,327,303) 5,587,748 (5,152,854) 5,273,561

Other comprehensive income:

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Available-for-sale investments:
    - Gains less losses arising during the year 47,347,785 534,662 47,347,785 534,662
Income tax recorded directly in other comprehensive income (11,836,946) (295,339) (11,836,946) (295,339)

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss -
Revaluation of premises and equipment (5,242,377) 2,738,497 (5,242,377) 2,738,497

Other comprehensive income 35 30,268,462 2,977,820 30,268,462 2,977,820

Total comprehensive income for the year 24,941,159 8,565,568 25,115,608 8,251,381
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Attributable to owners of the Group

In thousands of 
Mongolian Tugriks Note

Preferred 
shares

Share 
capital

Share
 premium

Revaluation 
reserve for 

AFS securities

Revaluation 
reserve 

for 
premises

Other 
reserves

Retained 
earnings

Total 
equity

Balance at 31 December 
2015 25,778,900 26,367,593 46,583,557 4,581,064 7,476,100 - 247,780,795 358,568,009

Profit for the year - - - - - - 5,587,748 5,587,748
Other comprehensive income 35 - - - 239,323 2,738,497 - - 2,977,820
 

Total comprehensive 
income for 2015 - - - 239,323 2,738,497 - 5,587,748 8,565,568

Transfer of revaluation surplus 
on premises 36 - - - (569,729) - 569,729

Transfer to regulatory
reserve (Note 12) - - - - - 12,581,184 (12,581,184) -

Transfer to other reserves 4.27 - - - - - 358,212 (358,212) -
 -

Balance at 31 December 
2015 25,778,900 26,367,593 46,583,557 4,820,387 9,644,868 12,939,396 240,998,876 367,133,577

Loss for the year  -    -    -    -   (5,327,303) (5,327,303)
Other comprehensive income 35 - - - 35,510,839 (5,242,377) - - 30,268,462
 -   

Total comprehensive 
income for 2016 - - - 35,510,839 (5,242,377) - (5,327,303) 24,941,159

 

Transfer of revaluation surplus 
on premises 36  -    -    -    -   (440,582)  -   440,582  -

Transfer to regulatory reserve 
(Note 12 and 21)  -    -    -    -   - 17,192,767 (17,192,767) -

Balance at 31 December 
2016 25,778,900 26,367,593  46,583,557 40,331,226 3,961,909 30,132,163 218,919,388 392,074,736
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Golomt Bank

Attributable to owners of the Bank

In thousands of 
Mongolian Tugriks Note

Preferred 
shares

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Revaluation 
reserve for 

AFS 
securities

Revaluation 
reserve for 

premises
Other 

resources 
Retained 
earnings

Total 
equity 

Balance at 31 December 
2015 25,778,900 26,367,593 46,583,557 4,581,064 7,476,100 - 247,534,836 358,322,050

Profit for the year  -    -    -    -    -    -   5,273,561 5,273,561
Other comprehensive income 35  -    -    -    239,323  2,738,497  -    -    2,977,820 
 
Total comprehensive income 
for 2016  -    -    -    239,323  2,738,497  -   5,273,561 8,251,381

Transfer of revaluation surplus 
on premises  -    -    -    -    (569,729)  -    569,729  -   

Transfer to regulatory reserve 
(Note 12)  -    -    -    -    -   12,581,184  (12,581,184)  -   

Transfer to other reserves 4.27  -    -    -    -    -    358,212  (358,212)  -   
 
Balance at 31 December 
2016  25,778,900  26,367,593  46,583,557  4,820,387  9,644,868 12,939,396 240,438,730 366,573,431

Loss for the year - - - - - - (5,152,854) (5,152,854)
Other comprehensive income - - - 35,510,839 (5,242,377) - - 30,268,462
 
Total comprehensive 
income for 2017 - - - 35,510,839 (5,242,377) - (5,152,854) 25,115,608

Transfer of revaluation surplus 
on premisis - - - - (440,582) - 440,582 -

Transfer to regulatory reserve 
(Notes 12 and 21) - - - - - 17,192,767 (17,192,767) -

Balance at 31 December 
2017 25,778,900 26,367,593 46,583,557 40,331,226 3,961,909 30,132,163 218,533,691 391,689,039

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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 Group  Bank 
In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Note 2017 2016 2017 2016

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit/(loss) before tax (12,238,502) 13,059,208 (12,082,935) 12,746,219
Adjustments to:
Impairment provision for loans and advances to customers 12 33,411,559 51,903,798 33,411,559 51,903,798
Gains less losses from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (3,370,868) (963,187) (3,370,866) (960,857)
Gains less losses from financial derivatives 65,296,303 (136,753,014) 65,296,303 (136,753,014)
Gains less losses from disposals of in-vestment securities available for sale 9, 40 (1,877,287) - (1,877,287) -
Gain on disposal of properties (12,751) - (12,751) -
Foreign exchange (gains)/losses (21,027,625) 111,667,665 (21,033,400) 111,710,252
Provision for other assets 18 167,175 3,646,340 167,175 3,644,340

20,157,623 20,157,623
Provision for guarantee and LC (119,797) 793,072 (119,797) 793,072
Provision for non-current asset held for sale 3,774,036 3,774,036 -
Depreciation expense 20 8,774,386 9,665,371 8,762,817 9,661,969
Amortization expense 19 1,621,165 2,849,105 1,619,599 2,845,311
Property and equipment written off 20 58,103 (244,481) 58,703 (244,481)
Impairment provision for repossessed 
collateral 21 (286,172) 2,345,199 (286,172) 2,345,200
Non cash dividend received (2,763,321) - (2,763,321) -
Interest income 30 (409,493,040) (332,111,635) (409,219,855) (331,899,510)
Interest expense 30 287,229,507 246,415,535 287,229,507 246,415,535

Cash flows used in operating activities before changes in operating 
assets and liabilities (30,699,506) (27,727,024) (30,289,062) (27,792,167)

(Increase) / decrease in mandatory cash balances with the Bank of Mongolia (79,396,194) (54,893,683) (79,396,194) (54,893,683)
(Increase) / decrease in due from other banks 181,338,414 59,837,125 181,338,414 59,837,126
(Increase) / decrease in trading securities 44,728,636 (251,409,930) 44,728,636 (251,409,930)
(Increase) / decrease in loans and advances (503,031,996) (32,946,006) (503,031,996) (32,946,006)
(Increase) / decrease in other assets (15,480,724) (6,671,097) (15,748,710) (6,524,386)
(Increase) / decrease in repossessed collateral (6,335,430) (67,526,708) (6,335,430) (67,526,708)
(Increase) / decrease in Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale 15,853,154 - 15,853,154 -
Increase/(decrease) in due to banks 263,016,245 21,570,424 263,016,245 21,570,424
Increase/(decrease) in customer account 633,843,485 471,832,917 634,219,508 471,259,423
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 18,282,675 18,644,376 18,185,078 18,664,628

Net cash provided from/(used in) operating activities before tax and 
interest 522,118,759 130,710,394 522,539,643 130,238,722

Tax paid 6,904,038 (2,014,343) 6,930,081 (2,014,312)
Interest received 421,305,911 265,927,495 421,086,080 265,715,369
Interest paid (267,399,930) (243,138,932) (267,399,930) (243,138,932)

Net cash provided from/(used in) operating activities 682,928,778 151,484,614 683,155,874 150,800,847

Consolidated Statement of Cashflow
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Refer to Notes 3 and 15 for information on the MIK-SPC transactions that did not require the use of cash and cash equivalents and were excluded from the 
Statement of Cash Flows.

Non-cash transfers from Loans and advances to Repossessed collaterals from Repossessed collaterals to non-current asset held for sale and investment 
properties were excluded from the Statement of Cash Flows. Refer to Note 4.32, Note 21, Note 22 and Note 16.

 Group  Bank 
In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Note 2017 2016 2017 2016

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of Investment securities available for sale (661,083) (82,206) (661,083) (82,206)
Proceeds from disposal of Investment securities available for sale 4,838,732 8,715 4,838,732 8,715
Acquisition of Investment securities held to maturity (13,611,100) - (13,611,100) -
Proceeds from disposal of Investment securities held to maturity 3,880,810 59,488,900 3,880,810 59,488,900
Acquisition of premises and equipment (17,018,106) (5,093,775) (16,980,199) (5,091,827)
Proceeds from disposal of premises and equipment 20 5,423,729 3,453,211 5,423,729 3,453,211
Acquisition of intangible asset 19 (1,289,688) (2,056,837) (1,289,688) (2,056,049)

Net cash used in investing activities (18,436,706) 55,718,008 (18,398,799) 55,720,744

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from repo arrangements 793,407,576 610,385,555 793,407,576 610,385,555
Repayment of repo  arrangements (783,473,121) (747,335,984) (783,473,121) (747,335,984)
Proceeds from drawdown of other borrowed funds 36 40,649,559 268,144,839 40,649,559 268,144,839
Repayment of other borrowed funds 36 (395,493,939) (156,480,679) (395,493,939) (156,480,679)
Proceeds from subordinated loans 28 12,000,000 - 12,000,000 -
Repayment of subordinated loans 36 (848,467) - (848,467) -

Net cash (used in) / provided from financing activities (333,758,392) (25,286,269) (333,758,392) (25,286,269)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 4,602,426 (108,758,256) 4,694,525 (108,800,631)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalent 335,336,106 73,154,324 335,693,208 72,434,691
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 805,403,936 732,249,612 804,619,301 732,184,610

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 7 1,140,740,043 805,403,936 1,140,312,509 804,619,301

Consolidated Statement of Cashflow
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Selected Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements-31 December 2017 

7 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and balances with central bank (other than mandatory reserve)

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

 Group  Bank
 31 December 

2017
 31 December 

2016
 31 December 

2017
 31 December 

2016

Cash on hand 111,872,603  101,879,822 111,445,070   101,095,187

Current account with the Bank of Mongolia (other than mandatory 
reserve) 110,906,508  215,706,005 110,906,508  215,706,005 

Cash and cash balances with central bank 222,779,111 317,585,827 222,351,578 316,801,192

Cash and balances with central bank (other than mandatory reserve) are not collateralized. All amounts are neither past due nor impaired as of 31 December 
2017 and 31 December 2016. The Bank of Mon-golia has a Caa1 rating from Moody’s.

Currency, interest rate, and maturity analysis of Cash and balances with central bank (other than man-datory reserve) are disclosed in Note 37. 

Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the cash flow statement are presented below:

Current accounts with the Bank of Mongolia are maintained in accordance with the regulations of the Bank of Mongolia. The mandatory cash balances 
maintained with the Bank of Mongolia are determined at not less than 12.0% (2016: 12.0 %) of customer deposits for a period of 2 weeks. As the above 
balances represent both the Bank’s and Group’s balances, the additional disclosure for Group is not required.

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

 Group  Bank
 31 December 

2017
 31 December 

2016
 31 December 

2017
 31 December 

2016

Cash and balances with the central banks (Note 7) 222,779,111 317,585,827 222,351,578  316,801,192 
Due from banks (Note 11) 285,957,783 294,216,826 285,957,783  294,216,826 
Bank of Mongolia treasury bills (Note 13,15) 632,003,148 41,979,911 632,003,148  41,979,911 
Government treasury bills (Note 9) - 141,625,606 -  141,625,606 
Reverse sale and repurchase agreement (Note 10) - 9,995,766 -  9,995,766 
 
Total cash and cash equivalents 1,140,740,042 805,403,936 1,140,312,509 804,619,301

8 Mandatory reserves with the Bank of Mongolia

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
 31 December 

2017
 31 December 

2016

Mandatory cash balances with the Bank of Mongolia 395,029,289 315,633,095
 
Mandatory cash balances with the Bank of Mongolia 395,029,289 315,633,095
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Golomt Bank
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements – 31 December 2017

9 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss represents investments in government bonds initially designated as at fair value 
through profit or loss and several equity securities quoted on the Hong Kong, Toronto and New York Stock Exchanges. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 are as follows:

Government bonds and treasury bills designated at fair value through profit or loss

Government bonds are issued by the Ministry of Finance with original maturities ranging from 7 to 85 months (2016: 3 to 53 months), and issued at a 
discount. Government treasury bills have original ma-turity up to 3 months and thus represent cash and cash equivalents. 

Below is the information on changes in government bonds and treasury bills designated at fair value through profit or loss during the years ended 31 
December 2017 and 31 December 2016:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

 Group  Bank

 31 December 
2017

 31 December 
2016

 31 December 
2017

 31 December 
2016

Government bonds 235,688,212 246,843,505 234,686,513 246,643,506
Government treasury bills - 141,625,606 - 141,625,606
Other FVTPL investment securities 14,582,519 7,172,002 14,389,831 7,153,482

Total FVTPL financial assets 250,270,731 395,641,113 249,076,344 395,422,594

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

 Group  Bank
 31 December 

2017
 31 December 

2016
 31 December 

2017
 31 December 

2016

Carrying value as at 1 January 388,469,112 - 388,269,112 -

Acquisitions 534,553,511 482,261,309 533,751,812 482,061,310
Disposals of financial assets at FVTPL (691,787,007) (79,313,095) (691,787,007) (79,313,095)
Effect of exchange rate changes 337,312 836,715 337,312 836,715
Unamortised discount and premium 4,177,679 (15,964,109) 4,177,679 (15,964,109)
Interest income accrual 44,759,444 20,684,079 44,759,444 20,684,079
Interest income received (44,821,839) (20,035,788) (44,821,839) (20,035,788)

Fair value as at 31 December 235,688,212 388,469,111 234,686,513 388,269,112
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Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Below is the information on changes in the portfolio of other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss during the years ended 
31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

 Group  Bank
 31 December 

2017
 31 December 

2016
 31 December 

2017
 31 December 

2016

Fair value as at 1 January 7,172,001 5,442,398 7,153,482 5,410,038

Acquisitions 8,401,655 240,828 6,945,972 170,445
Disposals of financial assets at FVTPL (2,371,237) (3,094,694) (1,108,242) (3,016,778)
Effect of exchange rate changes (208,708) 1,654,682 (208,708) 1,654,682
Fair value gain or loss from change in net market value 1,588,808 2,928,788 1,607,327 2,935,095
 
Fair value as at 31 December 14,582,519 7,172,002 14,389,831 7,153,482

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Government 

bonds
Government 

treasury bills Total

Neither past due nor impaired 
 - B- 234,686,513 -  234,686,513 

 
Total neither past due nor impaired 234,686,513 -  234,686,513 

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Government 

bonds
Government 

treasury bills Total

Neither past due nor impaired 
 - B- 246,643,506 141,625,606 388,269,112
  
Total neither past due nor impaired 246,643,506 141,625,606 388,269,112

As these securities are carried at fair value based on observable market data (prices from respective stock exchanges), the Group does not analyze or monitor 
impairment indicators.

Analysis by the credit quality of trading securities based on Standard & Poor’s ratings is as follows at 31 December 2017. Based on Moody’s rating, B rated 
counterparties (commercial banks and the Government of Mongolia) represent C rated counterparties due to the downgrade of Mongolia and its commercial 
banks in late 2016 (Note 2).

Analysis by credit quality of trading securities based on Standard & Poor’s ratings is as follows at 31 December 2016.
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Golomt Bank
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements – 31 December 2017

10 Reverse sale and repurchase agreements

The Group had no outstanding balance of reverse sale and repurchase agreement as at 31 December 2017. As of 31 December 2016, the reverse sale and 
repurchase agreement relates to a short-term agreement with local bank, earning interest rate 15.5% p.a. with original maturity 7 days. The reverse sale 
and repurchase agreement is fully collateralized by the Bank of Mongolia treasury bills which the Bank has the right, by contract to sell or re-pledge in the 
case of non-repayment.

11 Due from Other Banks

Correspondent accounts with other banks as at 31 December 2017 include current accounts of USD 100 million (31 December 2016: USD 200 million) with 
a foreign bank, pledged as collateral for the loan obtained from these banks (Note 25 and Note 39). Other amounts due from other banks are not collat-
eralized. The credit ratings are based on Standard & Poor’s ratings where available. 

Analysis by thecredit quality of amounts due from other banks outstanding is as follows:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
31 December

2017
31 December

2016

Correspondent accounts with other banks
  Domestic 36,363,256  11,734,532 
  Foreign 469,924,422  742,682,084 

Short-term placements with other banks
Domestic 22,383,105  37,706,210 

Placements with other banks with original maturities of more than three months 63,633,620  31,729 

Total due from other banks 592,304,403  792,154,555 

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
31 December

2017
31 December

2016

Neither past due nor impaired
AA- 755,320  4,816,688 
A+ 49,762,979  46,176,779 
A 145,378,622  62,596,820 
A- 16,133,958  5,407,549 
BBB+ 1,577,582  259,099,674 
BBB -  569,758 
BB+ 245,470,779  -   
BB 1,855,695 107,810,809 
BB- - 248,953,000
B+ 630,186 -
B 418,693  -   
B- 101,507,247  12,397,284 
CCC+ 20,520,206  -
CCC- 2,439,363  -
Unrated 5,853,773  44,326,194 

Total neither past due nor impaired 592,304,403 792,154,555 
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The aggregate amount of loans to the 30 biggest customers amounted to MNT 790,612,807 thousand (31 December 2016: MNT 790,641,419 thousand) and 
represents 32.9% (31 December 2016: 37.2%) of total loans and advances to customers at 31 December 2017. As the above balances represent both the 
Bank’s and Group’s balances, the additional disclosure for Group is not required.

Movements in the provision for loan impairment during 2017 are as follows:

Movements in the provision for loan impairment during 2016 are as follows:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 31 December
Corporate loans 1,069,728,879 976,217,821
Loans to small and medium business 524,467,181 542,679,369
Consumer loans to individuals 471,438,576 256,880,787
Mortgage loans to individuals 347,956,316 349,797,988

Total gross loans and advances to customers 2,413,590,952 2,125,575,965

Less: Provision for loan impairment (95,532,750) (90,716,210)

Total loans and advances to customers 2,318,058,202 2,034,859,755

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Corporate loans

Loans to small 
and medium 

business

Consumer 
loans to 

individuals

Mortgage 
loans to 

individuals Total

Provision for loan impairment at 1 January 2017 50,492,598 30,839,253 5,127,277 4,257,082 90,716,210 
Provision for impairment during the year  (5,535,531) 5,088,655 (335,004) 33,411,559
Exchange difference (2,468,122) 2,536,309 692,181 245 760,613
Amounts written off during the year as uncollectible (26,448,168) (612,714) (2,259,854) (34,896) (29,355,632)

Provision for loan impairment at 31 December 2017 55,769,747 27,227,317 8,648,259 3,887,427 95,532,750

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Corporate loans

Loans to small 
and medium 

business

Consumer 
loans to 

individuals

Mortgage 
loans to 

individuals Total

Provision for loan impairment at 1 January 2016 59,811,263 26,194,204 5,412,308 3,676,679 95,094,454
(Recovery of)/provision for impairment during the year 30,963,283 17,618,651 1,619,990 1,701,874 51,903,798
Exchange difference 8,425,741 (1,616,965) (1,491,720) (1,121,471) 4,195,585
Amounts written off during the year as uncollectible (48,707,689) (11,356,637) (413,301) - (60,477,627)

Provision for loan impairment at 31 December 2016 50,492,598 30,839,253 5,127,277 4,257,082 90,716,210

Correspondent accounts and placements with unrated banks relate to medium-sized Mongolian and International banks. Management assesses the credit 
quality of placements with unrated banks based on its general reputation and other available information (such as publicly available financial statements).

Currency, interest rate and maturity analysis of due from other banks are disclosed in Note 37. As the above balances represent both the Bank’s and Group’s 
balances, the additional disclosure for Group is not required.

12 Loans and Advances to Customers
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12 Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

In accordance with the regulation of the Bank of Mongolia (the “BOM”) it is required to recognize the excess difference of impairment provision determined 
in accordance with the regulations of BOM (“BOM impairment provision”) in comparison to impairment provision determined under IFRS as a reserve in the 
statement of changes in equity. This reserve is created as the appropriation of the Bank’s retained earnings, as such treatment is in accordance with IFRS 
and the new accounting regulations of the Bank of Mongolia, which are effective from 1 January 2016, and represents regulatory reserve. The amount of 
the reserve, created by the Bank as of 31 December 2016 was MNT 12,581,183 thousand. As at 31 December 2017, the impairment provision in accordance 
with IFRS was higher than impairment provision in accordance with BOM regulation; thus, there was no need for such reserve. As a result, the Bank has 
transferred related amounts to retained earnings as required by BOM regulation.

Economic sector risk concentrations within the customer loan portfolio are as follows:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
2017 2016

Amount % Amount %
Salary & Consumption 443,776,268 18.39% 250,908,681 11.80%
Mining & Exploration 426,171,133 17.66% 242,130,121 11.39%
Construction 351,638,125 14.57% 227,687,785 10.71%
Mortgage & House maintenance. 347,956,315 14.42% 349,797,988 16.46%
Trade - Whole & Retail 260,296,893 10.78% 231,047,086 10.87%
Manufacturing 242,721,397 10.06% 386,262,185 18.17%
Real estate 77,282,540 3.20% 82,144,387 3.86%
Electricity & Oil 46,597,798 1.93% 52,953,879 2.49%
Maintenance 42,140,076 1.75% 92,410,634 4.35%
Finance 34,387,821 1.42% 43,172,238 2.03%
Agriculture 27,039,069 1.12% 36,271,143 1.71%
Hotel & Restaurant 24,107,851 1.00% 27,276,519 1.28%
Transport & Communication 23,408,950 0.97% 36,270,290 1.71%
Car and vehicles 21,784,342 0.90% 4,009,689 0.19%
Tourism 18,207,973 0.75% 19,748,261 0.93%
Healthcare 12,230,871 0.51% 22,975,984 1.08%
Home appliances 5,877,966 0.24% 1,962,418 0.09%
Education 3,344,278 0.14% 2,461,998 0.12%
Public service 2,452,134 0.10% 4,569,404 0.21%
Infrastructure 1,026,118 0.04% 8,220,063 0.39%
Social services 774,111 0.03% 2,682,903 0.13%
Entrepreneurship 364,786 0.02% 543,857 0.03%
International organizations 4,137 0.00% 68,452 0.00%
   
Total loans and advances to customers (before impairment) 2,413,590,952 100% 2,125,575,965 100%
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The disclosure above represents the lower of the carrying value of the loan or collateral taken; the remaining part is disclosed within the unsecured exposures.

Unsecured loans mostly consist of salary loans. Even though for these loans the Group does not require separate collateral, the Group pledges and controls 
future pension and salary payments of the borrowers. The main requirement or pre-requisite for obtaining a pension or unsecured salary loan from the 
Group is to receive pension payments from the Government or salary payroll through the Group’s account.

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Corporate loans

Loans to small 
and medium 

business

Consumer 
loans to 

individuals

Mortgage 
loans to 

individuals Total

Loans collateralised by: 
- residential real estate 391,113,266 232,011,502 7,724,038 327,357,323 958,206,129
- other real estate 299,762,300 137,442,307 1,070,813 3,895,146 442,170,566
- tradable securities 43,847,241 8,670,801 - 21,225 52,539,267
- cash deposits 92,157,547 28,889,527 113,482,514 8,231,921 242,761,509
- other assets 242,848,525 117,453,044 91,997,485 8,450,701 460,749,755

Unsecured loans - - 257,163,726 - 257,163,726

Total loans and advances to customers 1,069,728,879 524,467,181 471,438,576 347,956,316 2,413,590,952

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Corporate loans

Loans to small 
and medium 

business

Consumer 
loans to 

individuals

Mortgage 
loans to 

individuals Total

Loans collateralised by: 
- residential real estate  394,859,557  307,481,592  14,752,930  332,770,299 1,049,864,378 
- other real estate  23,852,819  17,612,157  95,233  985,694  42,545,903 
- tradable securities  38,296,951  21,082,940 -  18,907  59,398,798 
- cash deposits  56,906,515  26,116,929 41,020,902  660,247  124,704,593 
- other assets  462,301,979  170,385,751 28,979,911  15,362,841  677,030,482 

Unsecured loans - - 172,031,811 -  172,031,811 

Total loans and advances to customers  976,217,821  542,679,369  256,880,787  349,797,988 2,125,575,965 

Information about collateral at 31 December 2016 is as follows:

Information about collateral at 31 December 2017 is as follows:
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In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Corporate loans

Loans to small 
and medium 

business

Consumer 
loans to 

individuals

Mortgage 
loans to 

individuals Total

Neither past due nor impaired  
Excellent  661,159,419 354,284,500 457,607,649 329,519,438 1,802,571,006
Good  86,943,886 290,417 - - 87,234,303
Restructured  121,524,370 22,944,621 58,221 122,346 144,649,558

Total neither past due nor impaired 869,627,675 377,519,538 457,665,870 329,641,784 2,034,454,867

Past due but not impaired 
- less than 30 days overdue  9,057,825 2,616,793 1,735,644 1,929,375 15,339,637
- 30 to 90 days overdue  44,902,435 15,430,196 2,617,293 4,396,432 67,346,356
- 91 to 180 days overdue  - 15,714,104 1,761,691 2,368,133 19,843,928
- 181 to 360 days overdue  26,858,834 17,942,172 2,232,962 2,329,074 49,363,042
- over 360 days overdue  47,539,735 53,836,991 5,425,116 7,291,518 114,093,360

Total past due but not impaired 128,358,829 105,540,256 13,772,706 18,314,532 265,986,323

Loans individually determined to be impaired (gross) 
- less than 30 days overdue  - 17,630,663 - - 17,630,663
- 30 to 90 days overdue  33,093,937 - - - 33,093,937
- 91 to 180 days overdue  - - - - -
- 181 to 360 days overdue  7,883,159 5,274,823 - - 13,157,982
- over 360 days overdue  30,765,279 18,501,901 - - 49,267,180

 Total individually impaired loans (gross) 71,742,375 41,407,387 - - 113,149,762

Less impairment provisions (55,769,747) (27,227,317) (8,648,259) (3,887,427) (95,532,750)
 
Total loans and advances to customers 1,013,959,132 497,239,864 462,790,317 344,068,889 2,318,058,202

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements – 31 December 2017

12 Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

Analysis by credit quality of loans outstanding at 31 December 2017 is as follows:
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The Group applied the portfolio provisioning methodology prescribed by IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and created portfolio 
provisions for impairment losses that were incurred, but have not been specifically identified with any individual loan, by the end of the reporting period. 
The Group’s policy is to classify each loan as ‘neither past due nor impaired’ until specific objective evidence of impairment of the loan is identified. The 
impairment provisions may exceed the total gross amount of individually impaired loans as a result of this policy and the portfolio impairment methodology.

The primary factors that the Group considers in determining whether a loan is impaired are its overdue status and realisability of related collateral, if any. As 
a result, the Group presents above an aging analysis of loans that are individually determined to be impaired.

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Corporate loans

Loans to small 
and medium 

business

Consumer 
loans to 

individuals

Mortgage 
loans to 

individuals Total

 Neither past due nor impaired  
 Excellent   546,369,194 390,960,793  243,446,361 330,438,895 1,511,215,243 
 Good   39,152,035  10,042,011  -    -    49,194,046 
 Restructured   183,774,277  12,901,121  32,008  461,232  197,168,638 

 Total neither past due nor impaired  769,295,506 413,903,925  243,478,369 330,900,127 1,757,577,927 

 Past due but not impaired 
- less than 30 days overdue  11,076,332 5,006,925  1,853,275  2,293,092  20,229,624 
- 30 to 90 days overdue  27,846,275 14,806,236  2,240,607  5,162,932  50,056,050 
- 91 to 180 days overdue  12,214,615 11,236,224  1,474,984  3,585,477  28,511,300 
- 181 to 360 days overdue  9,494,606 9,854,796  2,392,003  3,574,690  25,316,095 
- over 360 days overdue   49,957,649 56,945,249  5,441,549  4,281,670  116,626,117 

Total past due but not impaired  110,589,477  97,849,430  13,402,418  18,897,861  240,739,186 

Loans individually determined to be impaired (gross) 
- less than 30 days overdue  22,717,210  -    -    -    22,717,210 
- 30 to 90 days overdue  27,232,095  -    -    -    27,232,095 
- 91 to 180 days overdue   -    -    -    -    -   
- 181 to 360 days overdue   -    2,236,336  -    -    2,236,336 
- over 360 days overdue   46,383,533  28,689,678  -    -    75,073,211 

 Total individually impaired loans (gross)  96,332,838  30,926,014  -    -    127,258,852 

Less impairment provisions  (50,492,598) (30,839,253)  (5,127,277)  (4,257,082)  (90,716,210)
 
Total loans and advances to customers  925,725,223 511,840,116  251,753,510 345,540,906 2,034,859,755 

Analysis by credit quality of loans outstanding at 31 December 2016 is as follows:



76

Golomt Bank

The effect of collateral at 31 December 2016:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements – 31 December 2017

12 Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

Past due, but not impaired, loans primarily include collateralized loans where the fair value of collateral covers the overdue interest and principal repayments. 
The amount reported as past due but not impaired is the whole balance of such loans, not only the individual installments that are past due.

The financial effect of collateral is presented by disclosing collateral values separately for (i) those assets where collateral and other credit enhancements are 
equal to or exceed carrying value of the asset (“over-collateralized assets”) and (ii) those assets where collateral and other credit enhancements are less than 
the carrying value of the asset (“under-collateralized assets”).

The effect of collateral at 31 December 2017:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

Over-collateralized assets  Under-collateralized assets
Carrying value of 

the assets 
Fair value of 

collateral
Carrying value of 

the assets
Fair value of 

collateral

Corporate loans 1,000,517,224 7,511,920,278 69,211,655 42,991,925
Loans to small and medium business 475,777,656 1,920,033,661 48,689,525 33,064,153
Consumer loans to individuals 160,826,950 892,193,243 310,611,626 52,338,685
Mortgage loans to individuals 345,509,857 649,331,218 2,446,459 1,526,407

Total 1,982,631,687 10,973,478,400 430,959,265 129,921,170

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

Over-collateralised assets  Under-collateralised assets

Carrying value of 
the assets 

Fair value of 
collateral

Carrying value of 
the assets

Fair value of 
collateral

Corporate loans  929,856,260 7,352,191,388  46,361,560  41,709,989 
Loans to small and medium business  533,509,127 2,360,050,553  9,170,243  6,859,185 
Consumer loans to individuals  84,453,022  337,482,710  172,427,766  310,623 
Mortgage loans to individuals  349,214,784  670,845,123  583,204  417,050 

Total  1,897,033,193 10,720,569,775  228,542,773  49,296,847 

The collateral value presented in the tables above is the assessed fair value of the collateral at the reporting date, and is based on the conservative estimates 
of the Bank’s internal valuation specialists.
  
Neither past due nor impaired, but restructured loans represent the carrying amount of loans that would otherwise be past due or impaired whose terms 
have been renegotiated. Past due but not impaired loans primarily include collateralized loans where the fair value of collateral covers the overdue interest 
and principal repayments. The amount reported as past due but not impaired is the whole balance of such loans, not only the individual installments that 
are past due.

Refer to Note 20 for the details on repossessed collateral, which was recognised by the Group as foreclosed properties. Refer to Note 41 for the estimated fair 
value of each class of loans and advances to customers. Information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 43. Currency, interest rate and maturity 
analysis of loans and advances to customers are disclosed in Note 37.
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As of 31 December 2017, the Bank has invested in a number of treasury bills issued by the Bank of Mongolia. Treasury bills at par value of MNT 632,500,000 
thousand (MNT 42,000,000 thousand) with discounts and have effective interest rates of 11% (31 December 2016: 14% to 17%) p.a. with original maturities 
ranging from 5 to 8 days (31 December 2016: 7 to 84 days). 

As of 31 December 2017, treasury bills amounted to MNT 25,291,700 thousands (31 December 2016: MNT 15,390,500 thousand) were collateralized under 
REPO arrangements disclosed in Note 26 and Note 39.

14 Investment Securities Available for Sale

MIK bond represents Senior RMBS notes related to MIK securitization transaction, described in Note 3, which was purchased in December 2017 and sold to 
Bank of Mongolia in January 2018.

Quoted equity securities mainly consistof investments in shares of APU JSC and of Mongolian Mortgage Corporation, both listed on Mongolian Stock 
Exchange, with fair value of MNT 101,048,177 thousands (31 December 2016: MNT 56,073,538 thousands) and MNT 11,017,825 thousands (31 December 
2016: Nil) respectively as of 31 December, 2017.

In 2013, the Government of Mongolia passed the law for investment funds to be formed. The first investment fund was subsequently established. The 
Fund is managed by managing company domiciled in Mongolia, which is not related to the Bank’s owners or management, and its main activity is making 
investments with funds of its customers.  

13 Short-term Investment Securities

Short-term investment securities as of 31 December 2017 represent interest earning short-term treasury bills of the Bank of Mongolia ("BoM bills") issued 
at discount. Below is the information on changes in the treasury bills of the BOM during the year ended 31 December 2017:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Carrying value as at 1 January 41,979,911 -

Acquired 17,204,519,000 7,055,575,000
Matured (16,614,019,000) (7,013,575,000)
Unamortized discounted premium (476,763) (217,383)
Interest income accrual 41,123,291 23,621,571
Interest income received (41,123,291) (23,424,277)
 
Carrying value as at 31 December 632,003,148 41,979,911

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

MIK bond 47,624,997 -

Total debt securities 47,624,997 -
 

Unquoted equities, at fair value 58,499,266 58,493,633
Quoted equity securities, at fair value 112,492,725 67,672,295

 
Total corporate shares 170,991,991 126,165,928

 
Total 218,616,988 126,165,928



78

Golomt Bank

Fair value gains of MNT 47,359,915 thousand (31 December 2016: MNT 534,662 thousand) in other comprehensive income for the year ended 2016 
represents the fair value adjustment of available for sale investment.

Purchases and disposals of unquoted securities represent the movement of Senior Tranche of MIK bond, refer to Note 15 and Note 3.

As the above balances represent both the Bank’s and Group’s balances, the additional disclosure for Group is not required.

15 Investment Securities Held to Maturity

For measurement of investment securities held to maturity refer to Note 42.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements – 31 December 2017

14 Investment Securities Available for Sale (continued)

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the Bank has owned 10% of investment units of the Fund, which invested its funds in real estate properties 
in early 2015. The total investment amounts to MNT 58 billion and management believes that it is fully recoverable as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 
2016, given the assessment of the value of purchased properties done by third party i.e. independent qualified appraisers and the assessment of the Bank’s 
internal specialists.

Management has assessed that it does not have either control or significant influence on the operating and financial decisions and activities of the Fund, and 
therefore this investment is classified as an investment available for sale in accordance with IAS 39 requirements (Note 3). As the special license was issued 
by the Financial Regulatory Commission in October 2015, the Fund operated as a dormant com-pany since 2015. As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 
2016, management believes that the carrying value of the investment approximates its fair value and is not aware of any impairment indicators.

Below is the information on changes in the portfolio of investment securities available for sale during the years ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 
2016:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December  2017  31 December 2016

Carrying amount at 1 January 126,165,928 68,088,050
Fair value gains less losses 47,359,915  534,665 
Interest income accrued 384,397
Purchases – quoted 661,083  82,206 
Purchases – unquoted 120,732,800  49,445,700 
Disposals of investment securities available for sale – quoted (2,961,295)  (8,715)
Disposals of investment securities available for sale – unquoted (73,492,350)  (49,445,700)
Transferred from loans and advances -  56,073,539 
Exchange differences (233,490)  1,396,183 
 
Carrying amount at 31 December 218,616,988 126,165,928

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

 Group  Bank
 31 December 

2017
 31 December 

2016
 31 December 

2017
 31 December 

2016

Government bonds ( a ) 20,276,381 7,025,209 19,687,946 5,745,792
MIK bond ( b ) 83,407,188 69,646,125 83,407,188 69,646,125
Promissory Notes (c) 20,832,945 24,156,514 20,832,945 24,156,514
Corporate bonds 21,022,879 20,725,918 20,894,378 20,725,918

Total investment securities held to maturity 145,539,393 121,553,766 144,822,457 120,274,349
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(A) Government bonds

Government bonds are issued by the Ministry of Finance with original maturities ranging from 85 to 121 months (2016: 85 to 121 months), and issued at 
a discount. Government treasury bills are also issued by the Ministry of Finance, which have original maturity up to 3 months and thus represent cash and 
cash equivalents. Government bonds and treasury bills purchased in 2017 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Refer to Note 9.

Below is the information on changes in Government bonds classified as held to maturity investments during the years ended 31 December 2017 and 31 
December 2016:

(B) MIK bond

The MIK bonds represent the bonds secured by the mortgage loans provided by the Bank to the customers. The bond represents Junior residential mortgage-
backed securities (RMBS) obtained from a Mongolian Mortgage Corporation LLC (MIK-SPC) securitization transaction as disclosed in Note 3. 

During the first quarter of 2017, the Bank participated in the tenth and eleventh MIK securitization transaction. The Bank sold total of MNT 40,584,078 
thousand of the 8% Mortgage loans, described in Note 3, to MIK SPC for which it received residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBS) amounting to MNT 
36,525,600 thousand Senior RMBS notes bearing interest at 4.5% and MNT 4,058,300 thousand Junior RMBS notes bearing interest at 10.5%.

During the second quarter of 2017, the Bank participated in the twelfth MIK securitization transaction. The Bank sold total of MNT 41,796,460 thousand of 
the 8% Mortgage loans, described in Note 3, to MIK SPC for which it received residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBS) amounting to MNT 37,616,800 
thousand Senior RMBS notes bearing interest at 4.5% and MNT 4,179,600 thousand Junior RMBS notes bearing interest at 10.5%.

During the fourth quarter of 2017, the Bank participated in the thirteenth MIK securitization transaction. The Bank sold total of MNT 52,451,181 thousand of 
the 8% Mortgage loans, described in Note 3, to MIK SPC for which it received residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBS) amounting to MNT 47,240,600 
thousand Senior RMBS notes bearing interest at 4.5% and MNT 5,248,900 thousand Junior RMBS notes bearing interest at 10.5%.

Senior RMBS notes were recognized as Investment securities available for sale, while Junior RMBS notes were recognized as Investment securities held 
to maturity, in accordance with the management’s intentions. During 2017, the Bank sold Senior Tranche RMBS notes in the amount of MNT 74,142,400 
thousand to the Bank of Mongolia as repayment of 4% funding received under mortgage lending program.

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

 Group  Bank
 31 December 

2017
 31 December 

2016
 31 December 

2017
 31 December 

2016

Carrying value as at 1 January 7,025,208 66,223,098 5,745,792 64,901,615

Acquired 15,402,685 2,478,040 13,627,085 -
Matured (2,530,647) (61,951,240) - (59,488,900)
Unamortized discounted premium (104,587) 1,132,028 (129,702) 1,132,027
Interest income accrual 1,189,228 15,604,708 1,150,277 15,662,474
Interest income received (705,507) (16,461,424) (705,506) (16,461,424)

Fair value as at 31 December 20,276,381 7,025,209 19,687,946 5,745,792



80

Golomt Bank

Analysis by credit quality of investment securities classified as held to maturity at 31 December 2016 is as follows:

The Bank’s management believes that there are no impairment losses indicators in relation to investment securities held to maturity and that no impairment 
provision is necessary for the investment securities held to maturity as of 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements – 31 December 2017

15 Investment Securities Held to Maturity (continued)

(b) MIK bond  (continued)

As described in Note 3 the Junior RMBS will only be redeemed after the full redemption of the principal of the Senior RMBS and the payments to Junior RMBS 
holders are subordinate in right of payment and priority to the Senior RMBS. Any shortfall in the net assets of MIK-SPC would be borne by the Senior and 
Junior RMBS holders (proportionally in accordance with their seniority in the right of payment and priority).

(C) Promissory Notes

As of 31 December 2017, the Bank has invested in MNT 41,727,323 thousand (2016: MNT 44,882,432 thousand) of promissory notes which have interest 
rates ranging from 4% to 14.4% p.a. and original maturities ranging from 864 to 1032 days (2016: interest rate ranging from 4% to 15.2% p.a. and origi-
nal maturities ranging from 365 to 1032 days). Promissory notes with principal amount of MNT 22,000,000 thousands were collateralized under REPO 
arrangements disclosed in Note 26 and Note 39 as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016.

Analysis by credit quality of investment securities classified as held to maturity at 31 December 2017 based on S&P rating agency is as follows:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Government bonds 

and treasury bills MIK bond Promissory Notes Corporate bonds Total

Neither past due nor impaired 
 - B- 19,687,946 - - - 19,687,946
 - Unrated - 83,407,188 20,832,945 20,894,378 125,134,511

Total neither past due nor impaired 19,687,946 83,407,188 20,832,945 20,894,378 144,822,457

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Government bonds 

and treasury bills MIK bond Promissory Notes Corporate bonds Total

Neither past due nor impaired 
- B- 5,745,792 - - - 5,745,792
- Unrated - 69,646,125 24,156,514 20,725,918 114,528,557

Total neither past due nor impaired 5,745,792 69,646,125 24,156,514 20,725,918 120,274,349
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As the above balances represent both the Bank’s and Group’s balances, the additional disclosure for Group is not required.

The Group’s intention is to keep the premises for the purposes of earning rental income, capital appreciation, or both, and not to occupy premises by the 
Group. Accounting policy for investment properties is disclosed in Note 4.19. 

17 Investment in Subsidiary

Investment in the subsidiary as of 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 amounted to MNT 1,200,000 represents the 100% ownership of Golomt Capital 
LLC, a Company incorporated in Mongolia to operate in the field of brokerage and dealing. The investment is unquoted and carried at cost.

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Note 2017 2016

Investment properties at fair value at 1 January 51,291,334 1,209,050
 

Transferred from repossessed collateral 8,936,103 50,082,284
Transferred to Asset held for sale (3,184,457) -
Transferred to Plant properties and equipment (65,100)
Fair value gains/(losses) 32 527,707 -
  
Investment properties at fair value at 31 December 57,505,587 51,291,334

16 Investment Properties

Below is the information on changes in investment properties during the years ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016:



82

Golomt Bank
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements – 31 December 2017

18 Other Assets

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

 Group  Bank

 31 December 
2017

 31 December 
2016

 31 December 
2017

 31 December 
2016

Other financial assets:
Receivable from companies 9,125,034 1,659,639 9,627,664 1,646,405
Receivables on cash and settlements services 7,890,670 6,787,747 7,890,670 6,787,747
Other financial assets 9,445,659 6,984,214 9,445,659 6,957,399
Receivable from individuals 438,351 33,177 426,874 33,177
Less: provision for impairment (2,993,802) (3,242,005) (2,993,802) (3,242,005)

Total financial assets 23,905,912 12,222,772 24,397,065 12,182,723

Other non-financial assets:
Prepayments for employees benefits 2,241,151 4,392,540 2,226,793 4,390,553
Other non-financial assets 1,001,142 362,601 1,001,142 362,601
Office materials and supplies 1,702,903 595,090 1,702,903 595,090
Prepayment for maintenance of buildings 1,245,538 1,186,154 1,245,538 1,186,154
Prepayments for employees 281,921 14,864 281,921 14,244
Prepayments for rent 236,540 70,300 236,540 66,220
Other prepayments 13,246,780 9,536,844 13,238,846 9,536,250

Total non-financial assets 19,955,975 16,158,393 19,933,683 16,151,112

Total other assets 43,861,887 28,381,165 44,330,748 28,333,835

The increase in the receivable from companies includes a short-term receivable from a domestic company in the amount of CNY 50,000 thousand which is 
expected to be recovered shortly.

Total prepayments for employee benefits include prepayments related to loans to employees at preferential rates of MNT 1,326,188 thousand (31 December 
2016: 3,974,876 thousand).  In accordance with IFRS, fair value adjustments at initial recognition of loans to employees issued at preferential rates represents 
salary prepayment and is recognized within other non-financial assets. Further, the increase of other prepayments mainly relates to a prepayment of MNT 
3,210,768 thousand for preferred share dividend.
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In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

Receivables on cash 
and settlements 

services
Receivable from 

individuals
Receivable from 

companies
Other financial 

assets Total

Neither past due nor impaired
- Excellent 7,890,670 6,037 9,627,638 6,791,164 24,315,509

Total neither past due nor impaired 7,890,670 6,037 9,627,638 6,791,164 24,315,509
 
Impaired

- less than 30 days overdue - - - - -
- 30 to 90 days overdue - - 26 1,215,387 1,215,413
- 91 to 180 days overdue - - - 424 424
- 181 to 360 days overdue - - - 555 555
- over 360 days overdue - 420,837 - 1,438,129 1,858,966

 
Total  impaired - 420,837 26 2,654,495 3,075,358

Less impairment provisions - (327,311) - (2,666,491) (2,993,802)

Total other financial assets 7,890,670 99,563 9,627,664 6,779,168 24,397,065

Analysis by credit quality of other financial assets outstanding at 31 December 2016 is as follows:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

Receivables on cash 
and settlements 

services
Receivable from 

individuals
Receivable from 

companies
Other financial 

assets Total

Neither past due nor impaired
- Excellent 5,448,769 31,847 832,848 3,872,597 10,186,061 

Total neither past due nor impaired 5,448,769 31,847 832,848 3,872,597 10,186,061 
 
Impaired

- less than 30 days overdue 866,895 - -  3,056 869,951 
- 30 to 90 days overdue 113,526 - 761,562 - 875,088 
- 91 to 180 days overdue - - - 221,999 221,999 
- 181 to 360 days overdue - 1,330 49,791 - 51,121 
- over 360 days overdue 358,557 - 2,204 2,859,747 3,220,508 

 
Total impaired 1,338,978 1,330 813,557  3,084,802 5,238,667 

Less impairment provisions (353,334) (25,513)  (3,410) (2,859,748) (3,242,005)

Total other financial assets 6,434,413 7,664 1,642,995 4,097,651 12,182,723 

Analysis by credit quality of other financial assets outstanding at 31 December 2017 is as follows:
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18 Other Assets (continued)

Analysis by credit quality of other financial assets outstanding at 31 December 2017 is as follows:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

Receivables 
on cash and 
settlements 

services

Receivable 
from 

individuals

Receivable 
from 

companies

Other 
financial 

assets Total

Provision for  asset impairment at 1 January 2017 369,862 9,061 3,334 2,859,747 3,242,005
Provision for impairment during the year (355,770) 320,040 (3,334) 206,239 167,175
Exchange difference - - - (373,597) (373,597)
Amounts written off during the year as uncollectible (14,092) (1,790) - (25,898) (41,780)

Provision for  asset impairment at 31 December 2017 - 327,311 - 2,666,491 2,993,802

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

Receivables 
on cash and 
settlements 

services

Receivable 
from 

individuals

Receivable 
from 

companies

Other 
financial 

assets Total

Provision for  asset impairment at 1 January 2016 313,913 - 816,815 1,764,880 2,895,608
Provision for impairment during the year 56,992 3,175,393 (750,275) 1,162,230 3,644,340
Exchange difference 137,932 - - 170,780 308,712
Amounts written off during the year as uncollectible (155,503) (3,149,880) (63,130) (238,142) (3,606,655)
 
Provision for  asset impairment at 31 December 2016 353,334 25,513 3,410 2,859,748 3,242,005

Movements in the provision for asset impairment during 2016 are as follows:
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19 Intangible Assets

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

Group Bank

Computer 
software
 licences Land use right Total

Computer 
software 

licences Land use right Total

Cost at 1 January 2016 25,589,233 673,313 26,262,546 25,291,042 673,313 25,964,355
Accumulated amortization (11,521,966) - (11,521,966) (11,228,356) - (11,228,356)

Carrying amount at 1 January 2016 14,067,267 673,313 14,740,580 14,062,686 673,313 14,735,999

Additions 2,056,837 - 2,056,837 2,056,049 - 2,056,049
Charge for the year (Note 33) (2,849,105) - (2,849,105) (2,845,311) - (2,845,311)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2016  13,274,999  673,313  13,948,312  13,273,424  673,313  13,946,737 

Cost at 1 January 2017 27,646,070 673,313 27,347,091 673,313 28,020,404
Accumulated amortization (14,371,071) - (14,371,071) (14,073,667) - (14,073,667)

Carrying amount at 1 January 2017 13,274,999 673,313 (14,371,071) 13,273,424 673,313 13,946,737

Additions 1,289,687 - 1,289,687 1,289,687 - 1,289,687
Write-off (2,586,898) - (2,586,898) (2,586,898) - (2,586,898)
Charge for the year (Note 33) (1,621,165) - (1,621,165) (1,619,599) - (1,619,599)
Write-off of accumulated depreciation 2,586,898 - 2,586,898 2,586,898 - 2,586,898

Carrying amount at 31 December 2017 12,943,521 673,313 13,616,834 12,943,512 673,313 13,616,825
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20 Premises and Equipment

/Group/

In thousands of 
Mongolian Tugriks Premises Motor vehicles

Office 
equipment and 

computers Furniture PPE reserve
Leasehold 

improvement
Construction in 

progress
Total premise 

and equipment

Cost at 1 January 2016 149,177,883 2,873,547 30,794,596 6,256,232 1,485,371 1,262,386 14,193,628 206,043,643

Accumulated 
depreciation (3,759,153) (1,219,080) (21,597,694) (1,995,760) - (838,310) - (29,409,997)

 

Carrying amount at 1 
January 2016 145,418,730 1,654,467 9,196,902 4,260,472 1,485,371 424,076 14,193,628 176,633,646

 
Additions -   -   945,915 87,404 361,742 349,513 3,033,491 4,778,065 
Transfers -   -   1,158,435 (31,057) (1,127,378) -   - -   
Disposals -   (260,205) (79,171) (11,974) -   -   (3,400,000) (3,751,350)
Write-offs -   -   (190,321) (63,632) -   -   - (253,953)
Charge for the year (3,902,554) (273,694) (4,831,893) (340,042) -   (317,188) - (9,665,371)
Transfers -   -   (1,325) 1,325 -   -   - -   
Disposals -   211,589 79,171 7,379 -   -   - 298,139 
Write-offs -   -   189,032 55,450 -   -   - 244,482 

Reversal of accumulated 
depreciation 
Revaluation

1,928,215
810,282 - - - - - 1,928,215

- - - - 810,282
 

Carrying amount at 
31 December 2016 144,254,673 1,332,157 6,466,745 3,965,325 719,735 456,401 13,827,119 171,022,155

Cost at 1 January 2017 151,916,380 2,613,342 32,629,454 6,236,973 719,735 1,611,899 13,827,119 209,554,902

Accumulated 
depreciation (7,661,707) (1,281,185) (26,162,709) (2,271,648) - (1,155,498) - (38,532,747)

 

Carrying amount at 1 
January 2017 144,254,673 1,332,157 6,466,745 3,965,325 719,735 456,401 13,827,119 171,022,155

 
Additions 1,776,573 72,300 6,794,827 531,010 5,791,243 1,812,166 305,088 17,083,207
Transfers - - 2,328,372 (15,912) (2,312,460) - - -
Disposals - (100,000) (53,066) (9,784) (7,052) - (13,203,572) (13,373,474)
Write-offs - - (597,697) (37,059) - - - (634,756)
Charge for the year (3,794,039) (228,183) (3,888,264) (334,022) - (531,443) - (8,775,951)
Transfers - - (2,426) 2,426 - - - -
Disposals - 34,918 52,035 9,221 - - - 96,174
Write-offs - - 560,539 17,079 - - - 577,618
Impairment charge (25,400,000) - - - - - - (25,400,000)
 

Carrying amount at 
31 December 2017 116,837,207 1,111,192 11,661,065 4,128,284 4,191,466 1,737,124 928,635 140,594,973
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In thousands of 
Mongolian Tugriks Premises Motor vehicles

Office 
equipment 

and computers Furniture PPE reserve
Leasehold 

improvement
Construction in 

progress

Total 
premise and 

equipment

Cost at 1 January 2016 149,177,883 2,870,006 30,776,569 6,242,681 1,485,371 1,262,387 14,193,628 206,008,525

Accumulated 
depreciation (3,759,153) (1,218,010) (21,580,380) (1,993,925) - (838,311) - (29,389,779)

 

Carrying amount at 1 
January 2016 145,418,730 1,651,996 9,196,189 4,248,756 1,485,371 424,076 14,193,628 176,618,746

Additions - - 945,592 85,712 361,742 349,513 3,033,491 4,776,050
Revaluation 810,282 - - - - - - 810,282
Transfers - - 1,158,435 (31,057) (1,127,378) - - -
Disposals - (260,205) (79,171) (11,974) - - (3,400,000) (3,751,350)
Write-offs - - (190,321) (63,632) - - - (253,953)
Charge for the year (3,902,554) (272,514) (4,830,776) (338,937) - (317,188) - (9,661,969)
Transfers - - (1,325) 1,325 - - - -
Disposals - 211,589 79,171 7,379 - - - 298,139
Write-offs - - 189,032 55,450 - - - 244,482

Reversal of accumulated 
depreciation 1,928,215 - - - - - - 1,928,215

Carrying amount at 
31 December 2016 144,254,673 1,330,866 6,466,826 3,953,022 719,735 456,401 13,827,119 171,008,642

Cost at 1 January 2017 151,916,380 2,609,801 32,611,104 6,221,730 719,736 1,611,900 13,827,119 209,517,771

Accumulated 
depreciation (7,661,707) (1,278,934) (26,144,277) (2,268,710) - (1,155,499) - (38,509,128)

 

Carrying amount at 1 
January 2017 144,254,673 1,330,866 6,466,826 3,953,022 719,735 456,401 13,827,119 171,008,642

 
Additions 1,776,573 72,300 6,756,920 531,010 5,791,243 1,812,166 305,088 17,045,300
Transfers - - 2,328,372 (15,912) (2,312,460) - - -
Disposals - (100,000) (53,066) (9,784) (7,052) - (13,203,572) (13,373,474)
Write-offs - - (581,746) (37,058) - - - (618,804)
Charge for the year (3,794,039) (228,183) (3,875,130) (334,022) - (531,443) - (8,762,817)
Transfers - - (2,426) 2,426 - - - -
Disposals - 34,918 52,035 9,221 - - - 96,174
Write-offs - - 543,022 17,079 - - - 560,101
Impairment charge (25,400,000) - - - - - - (25,400,000)

Carrying amount at 
31 December 2017 116,837,207 1,109,901 11,634,807 4,115,982 4,191,466 1,737,124 928,635 140,555,122

/Bank/
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20 Premises and Equipment (continued)

The premises have been revalued at fair value as at 30 June 2013. The valuation was carried out by independent appraisers, a consortium of nine companies 
led by Yudentax TIN audit LLC, Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia. The consortium holds a recognized and relevant professional qualification and has recent experience 
in the valuation of assets of similar location and category. The basis used for the appraisal was market value for premises located in the capital Ulaanbaatar 
and other urban areas and replacement cost for premises located in rural areas. Using the market value of similar assets was considered appropriate for these 
properties due to lack of reliable input data for discounted cash flow approach.

As disclosed in Note 3, fair value of premises as of 31 December 2017 was assessed using income method, due to the nature of premises and comparable 
market data. For more information on valuation method used and management’s judgements refer to Note 3. As a result, the Group recognized impairment 
charge of MNT 25,400,000 thousand, out of which MNT 5,242,377 thousand represents a decrease in revaluation reserves and MNT 20,157,623 thousand is 
recognised through profit or loss account. The Bank’s internal valuation specialists have considered changes in the fair value of premises as of 31 December 
2016 and recognised increase in fair value of premises of MNT 2,738,497 thousand. 

In 2017, the disposed of a construction in progress included in the amount of MNT 12,853,572 thousand to its related party.

At 31 December 2017 the carrying amount of premises would have been MNT 112,434,176 thousand (2016: MNT 134,040,076 thousand) had the assets 
been carried at a cost with less depreciation. 

The amount reconciles to the carrying value of the premises as follows:

Refer to Note 41 for the disclosure for inputs and model used to determine fair value and its sensitivity analysis.

21 Repossessed Collaterals

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Premises at revalued amount in the statement of financial position 116,837,207 144,254,673 
Revaluation reserve presented in equity (3,961,909) (9,644,868)
Revaluation reserve transfer to retained earnings (440,582) (569,729)

Premises at cost less accumulated depreciation 112,434,716 134,040,076

Repossessed collateral represents real estate assets and financial assets acquired by the Bank in settlement of overdue loans. The Bank expects to dispose of 
the assets in the foreseeable future. The non-financial assets do not meet the definition of non-current assets held for sale and investment properties and 
are classified as inventories in accordance with IAS 2 “Inventories”. In case of repossessed collateral in the form of financial asset such as securities, the Group 
classifies them for IFRS measurement purposes as securities available for sale and measures them at fair value. The assets were initially recognized at fair 
value with less cost to sell when acquired.

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Financial assets at fair value 44,660,926  44,660,926 
Non-financial assets at cost 4,831,076  4,249,744 
 Less: Impairment provision (2,401,216)  (4,101,061)

Total repossessed collaterals 47,090,786 44,809,609
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During 2017, the Group reclassified MNT 5,987,801 thousand (2016: MNT 50,082,284 thousand) and MNT 37,302,020 thousand (2016: MNT 17,444,424 
thousand) of assets from repossessed collateral to Investment properties and Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale respectively, following the 
management’s intentions in relation to those assets. Refer to Notes 16 and 22. 

Financial assets at fair value as of 31 December 2017 represent shares in Burkhan Del Alt LLC which the Bank has acquired in the process of settlement of 
overdue loans. Financial repossessed collaterals are recognized as investments available for sale. Refer to Note 42.

Non-financial assets at cost represent premises which the Bank has acquired in the process of settle-ment of overdue loans. The impairment provision 
disclosed above fully relates to non-financial assets. For the accounting policy applied, refer to Note 4.33.

Movements in the provision for repossessed non-financial collaterals during 2017 and 2016 are as fol-lows:

As the above balances represent both the Bank’s and Group’s balances, the additional disclosure for Group is not required.

As disclosed in Note 12, regulatory reserve of MNT 29,773,951 thousands was created as an impairment provision in accordance with BoM was higher than 
the impairment provision in accordance with IFRS for repossessed collaterals.

22 Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale

Non-current assets classified as held for sale were previously classified as a repossessed collateral (foreclosed assets), acquired by the Group in a settlement 
of overdue loans. Management approved a plan to sell non-current assets on 25 December 2017. The Group is actively marketing these assets and expects 
the sale to complete within 12 months. Further accounting policies of non-current assets classified as held for sale is disclosed in Note 4.13.

Major classes of non-current assets classified as held for sale are as follows:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 2017 2016

Provision for repossessed collaterals at 1 January 4,101,061 1,755,861

Provision /(reversal) for impairment during the year  (286,172) 2,345,200
Amounts written off during the year as uncollectible  (1,413,673) -
 
Provision for repossessed collaterals at 31 December 2,401,216 4,101,061

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Non-current assets held for sale:
Non-financial
Office and commercial spaces 38,635,433 5,985,718 
Residential apartments or houses 11,479,720 5,325,228 
Buildings 1,083,642 1,083,642 
Equipment 1,196,903 -
Other 160,719 -

  
Financial    
Equity securities - 5,049,835 
 
Total non-current assets held for sale 52,556,417 17,444,424 
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22 Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale (continued)

Refer to Note 41 for the disclosure of the fair value of financial instruments. Currency, interest rate and maturity analysis of non-current assets classified as 
held for sale are disclosed in Note 37.

23 Due to Other Banks

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Short-term placements of other banks 255,246,082  103,933,499 
Long-term placement of other banks 132,946,151  17,968,518 
 
Total due to other banks 388,192,233 121,902,017

Amount due to other banks and financial institutions represent foreign currency and local currency accounts and time deposits placed with Mongolian and 
foreign banks. The increase in amounts of due to other banks mainly relates to short and long term placements from a local bank.

At 31 December 2017 short-term placement relates to current accounts from local and foreign banks, and deposits from local banks and foreign banks with 
interest rates ranging from 1.6% p.a. to 14.0% p.a. (2016: from 3.0% p.a. to 14.5% p.a.) and original maturities ranging from 5 to 516 days (2016: from 5 
to 90 days).

Refer to Note 41 for the disclosure of the fair value of each class of due to other banks. Currency, interest rate and maturity analysis of due to other banks 
are disclosed in Note 37.

As the above balances represent both the Bank’s and Group’s balances, the additional disclosure for Group is not required.

24 Customer Accounts

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

Group Bank
31 December

2017
31 December

2016
31 December

2017
31 December

2016

State and public organizations 270,681,877 185,378,977 270,681,877 185,378,977
- Current/settlement accounts 207,265,363 109,749,345 207,265,363 109,749,345
- Demand deposits 45,518,223 58,278,383 45,518,223 58,278,383
- Term deposits 17,898,291 17,351,249 17,898,291 17,351,249

Legal entities 910,470,692 733,633,909 910,722,982 733,253,306
- Current/settlement accounts 637,255,237 531,452,603 637,507,527 531,072,000
- Demand deposits 50,754,191 60,294,309 50,754,191 60,294,309
- Term deposits 222,461,264 141,886,997 222,461,264 141,886,997

 
Individuals 2,234,190,600 1,852,067,325 2,233,766,425 1,851,900,020

- Current/demand accounts 154,058,148 114,728,969 153,633,973 114,561,664
- Demand deposits 417,543,390 407,064,810 417,543,390 407,064,810
- Term deposits 1,662,589,062 1,330,273,546 1,662,589,062 1,330,273,546

Other 38,748,463 32,795,258 38,748,463 32,795,257
- Current/demand accounts 26,601,431 19,870,884 26,601,431 19,870,884
- Demand deposits 445,708 920,243 445,708 920,243
- Term deposits 11,701,324 12,004,131 11,701,324 12,004,130

 
Total customer accounts 3,454,091,632 2,803,875,469 3,453,919,747 2,803,327,560

According to the Mongolian Civil Code, the Bank is obliged to repay deposits to individual depositors at short notice. If a fixed-term deposit is withdrawn by 
the depositor ahead of term, interest is payable at the rate paid by the Bank on demand deposits unless otherwise specified by the contract.
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The management currently does not monitor concentration of customer accounts per economic sectors. Therefore, related information is not disclosed in 
these financial statements. At 31 December 2017 the aggregate amount of the top 30 biggest customers is MNT 818,650,820 thousand (31 December 2016: 
MNT 724,652,186 thousand) or 24% of total customer accounts (31 December 2016: 26%).

The amount due to a subsidiary amounting to MNT 219,710 thousand (2016: MNT 1,231,005 thousand) was eliminated in the Group’s financial statements.
 
At 31 December 2017, included in customer accounts are deposits of MNT 8,632,902 thousand (2016: MNT 7,391,954 thousand) held as collateral for 
irrevocable commitments under bank guarantee.

25 Other Borrowed Funds

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

(A) Borrowed funds under project
Borrowed funds under Project /MNT/  365,213,958  593,876,110  
Borrowed funds under Project /USD/  549,730  921,098  
Borrowed funds under Project /EUR/  749,063  1,043,461  

Total borrowed funds under projects 366,512,751 595,840,669  

(B) Borrowings from foreign banks and financial institutions
Borrowings from other foreign bank /USD/ 260,536,421  497,834,077  
Trade finance from foreign banks and financial institutions /USD/ 104,241,184  89,470,981  
Trade finance from foreign banks and financial institutions /EUR/ 15,532,154  4,208,098  
Trade finance from foreign banks and financial institutions /CNY/ 10,918,980  5,671,627  
Trade finance from foreign banks and financial institutions /GBP/ 155,833  143,302  
Trade finance from foreign banks and financial institutions /JPY/ -  2,701,243  

Total borrowings from foreign banks and financial institutions 391,384,572  600,029,328  

TOTAL (A+B) 757,897,323 1,195,869,997  
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25 Other Borrowed Funds (continued)

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Government price stabilization program
Housing mortgage program 247,279,456 232,770,498
Project loan of KFB bank 3,741,133 4,580,317
Other borrowing under project 581,000 3,111,900
Project to increase number of warehouses and to support development of intensive livestock 579 5,338,587

Projects financed by Development Bank of Mongolia
MNCCI leather processing project 15,751,313 21,274,202
Funding for Asia-Europe meeting 15,242,618 21,422,706
Project 888 to support export and substitute import 15,043,458 23,372,257
Other borrowing under project 4,428,414 7,839,890
Project on meat production 4,256,210 4,506,575
Agriculture 2016 program 2,160,888 4,576,397
Project on renewing the cashmere technology - 98,354,244
Project on producing woollen goods - 48,022,000
Project on supporting milk and dairy products manufacturing - 41,133,334
Project on constructing greenhouse farm - 25,926,550
Project on supporting the sewing industry - 3,610,600

Joint projects of Mongolian government and JICA
Borrowings under SME industry support fund 15,654,490 12,001,016
Borrowings under SME development and environment protection 194,596 456,956
Private sector development project loan 2, MNT, USD 15,824 126,106

Other government projects
Project to support employment 26,140,600 -
Borrowings under SME industry support fund 12,526,518 14,521,244
Student development program 1,987,754  1,000,000
Borrowings under Agriculture and Rural Development Project 1,152,766 1,090,321
Other borrowing under project 355,134 460,270
Borrowings under SME development and natural environment protection - 18,687,810
Borrowings under project for support to finished wool and cashmere producers - 1,136,070
Borrowings under Housing finance Project - 485,084
Borrowings under 40000 Housing Unit Development program - 35,735

Total borrowed funds under projects 366,512,751 595,840,669  

The terms of the borrowing agreements with government organizations, central bank, and international financial institutions are provided in below table. 

As disclosed in Note 3, most of these funds are obtained for specific purposes (issuing loans at advantageous rates to target customers), defined by the 
lenders or the Government of Mongolia, and therefore they are obtained at interest rates which may be lower than rates at which the Bank could source 
the funds from other lenders. Interest rate on most of these borrowed funds ranges between 0.9% to 6% p.a., while interest rate on most of the loans 
issued from these sources range between 3.8% and 9% p.a. The management considered whether initial gain on recognition of these borrowings should be 
recognised and concluded that they meet definition of principal market and that no gains or losses should arise on initial recognition of related borrowings 
and loans to customers. For management’s judgments refer to Note 3. The major programs include funding from the Development Bank of Mongolia on 
funding specific sectors or types of projects that are related to key priorities for development of Mongolian economy (e.g. achieving diversification of 
economy) by the Government of Mongolia. These programs are briefly outlined below. 
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(A) Borrowed funds under projects

The Government of Mongolia and the Bank of Mongolia entered into a memorandum of understanding on joint implementation of a mid-term program 
for stabilizing the price of main goods on 22 October 2012 (SIFS). Within the framework of this program, the Bank entered into agreements for Fuel Pricing 
Stabilization (SIFS) on 10 December 2012, Food Price Stabilization on 24 December 2012, and Construction sector support and apartment price stabilization 
on 7 May 2013 with the Bank of Mongolia. For SIFS and FPS the loan bears 0.89% interest rate per annum. The Bank then lends the funds to approved 
participants in the programs at the interest rate of 3.8% p.a. For Construction sector support and apartment price stabilization program the loan bear 2.5%-
4% interest rate per annum. And the Bank then lends the funds to approved participants in the program at the interest rate of 5.5%-7% p.a. Under the 
agreements with the Bank of Mongolia, in the event the Bank does not repay the Bank of Mongolia in accordance with the terms, the Bank of Mongolia has 
the right to debit the Bank’s account at the Bank of Mongolia. The Bank approves all loans disbursement and bears the credit risk. During 2016, the SIFS and 
FPS programs have ended as per the agreements. The Bank has fully repaid all of outstanding amounts within these programs. 

Under Housing Mortgage Program, the Bank received funds during 2014, 2015 and 2016 from the Bank of Mongolia for a mortgage loan program 
implemented by the Government at an interest rate of 4% p.a. Newly issued loans or refinanced loans need to meet specific requirements (apartments with 
maximum area of 80 square meters, down payment of at least 30% apartment purchase price, good customer’s credit history with respective bank and other 
Mongolian banks etc.) in order to qualify for this program. As a result of such financing, the Bank is able to advance funds to target customers as determined 
by its lenders, at advantageous rates of 8% p.a. defined by the Bank of Mongolia i.e. the Bank has no discretionary rights in determining interest rates on 
issued loans. The Bank approves all loans disbursement or refinancing under 8% interest rate and bears the credit risk. 

The Bank participates in the Government financed program for improving agricultural industry, which is run by Development Bank of Mongolia (DBM). 
On 15 August 2013, the Bank entered into the agreement with the DBM under this program for financing small and medium sized enterprises which 
operate in specified industries including constructing greenhouse farm, milk and dairy products manufacturing, sewing, renewing cashmere technology and 
production of woollen goods. Under this arrangement the Bank obtained funding at interest rates ranging from 5.13% p.a. to 5.7 % p.a. and issued loans 
to customers at advantageous interest rate of 8% p.a. which is defined in the contract with the DBM. The Bank bears the credit risk in this arrangement.

Since July 2014, the Bank participates in another Government project targeting specific industry, "Manufacturing and Processing of Leather Products 
(MNCCI)” with Development Bank of Mongolia. Related funding from the DBM is obtained at interest rate of 5% p.a. and related loans are issued to 
customers at advantageous interest rates of 7% p.a., as per terms of the arrangement. All customers must be approved by Ministry of Food and Agriculture. 
The Bank bears the credit risk in this arrangement.

The Bank participates in the Government program of financing 888 projects to support export and substitute import products in Mongolia through 
Development Bank of Mongolia and commercial banks. As a part of this arrangement the Bank received funding at interest rates ranging from 3% p.a. to 5 
% p.a. with maturity of 5 years and maximum interest rate on issued loans ranging from 7% p.a. to 9% p.a., which represent advantageous interest rates. 
The Bank has discretionary rights to determine interest rates within the defined threshold and bears credit risk in this arrangement.

In 2015, the Bank participated in Government program of financing cashmere industry through Development Bank of Mongolia and the interest rate of the 
funding is 6% p.a. with maturity of up to 3 years. The Bank can issue loans to the targeted customers with interest of 9% p.a. 

In 2016, the Bank participated in a program funded by the Development Bank of Mongolia on financing of hotels accommodating the representatives of 
11th Asia-Europe Meeting. Under this program the Bank obtained funding at interest rates of 4.5% p.a. and issued loans to qualified hotels at advantageous 
interest rate of 13% p.a. The Bank bears the credit risk in this arrangement.

On 10 February 2017, the Bank participates in the Government program of financing project to support employment for providing small and medium sized 
loans to individuals and enterprises to create work-places and manufacturing. The Bank received related funding from the General Agency for Labor Welfare 
Service at interest rate of 3% p.a., with maturity of 2 years. The Bank bears the credit risk in this arrangement. Furthermore, within the Government project 
to support export and substitute import products in Mongolia, the Bank entered into an arrangement with the Development Bank of Mongolia on financing 
of small and medium-sized projects. The funding bears interest rate of 6% p.a. with maturity date of 5 March 2019. The Bank has discretionary rights to 
determine the interest rate up to 9% p.a., at which the loans are issued to the targeted customers.

As of 31 December 2017, the Bank has breached 2 covenants, open credit exposure ratio and non-performing loans ratio, related to borrowings from 
World Business Capital and Export Development Canada in the amount of MNT 1,187,406 thousands and in the amount of MNT 17,560,810 thousands 
respectively. Therefore, the Bank requested waiver letters from those 2 borrowers, however the waiver letters has not been received as of 31 December 
2017. In accordance with IFRS, management has classified the total amount of these borrowings in the category "On demand and less than one month". The 
Management is confident that waivers will be received in the nearest future. Therefore management has disclosed additional information about expected 
maturities in case the waivers are obtained in nearest future. Please refer to the Note 37. There were no breaches of covenants as of 31 December 2016.
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25 Other Borrowed Funds (continued)

(A) Borrowed funds under projects (continued)

Category Funding source Name of Project Currency
Disbursement 

date Maturity date

Principle balance 
as of 31 December 

2017 in original 
currency

Principle balance 
as of 31 December 
2017 in thousands 

of MNT

Go
ve

rn
m

en
t p

ric
e 

st
ab

ili
za

tio
n 

pr
og

ra
m

Bank of Mongolia Project loan of KFB bank EUR 12/11/2012 12/25/2020  258  748,881 

Bank of Mongolia Housing mortgage program MNT 5/30/2017 9/30/2019  28,026,480  28,026,480 

Bank of Mongolia Other borrowing under project MNT 5/7/2001 5/7/2018  581,000  581,000 

Bank of Mongolia Project loan of KFB bank MNT 5/16/2013 6/25/2021  2,984,980  2,984,980 

Bank of Mongolia Housing mortgage program MNT 6/14/2013 9/30/2019  219,104,309  219,104,309 

Pr
oj

ec
ts

 fi
na

nc
ed

 b
y 

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t B

an
k o

f M
on

go
lia

Development Bank 
of Mongolia Funding for Asia-Europe meeting MNT 3/11/2016 12/21/2018  15,235,000  15,235,000 

Development Bank 
of Mongolia Agriculture 2016 program MNT 4/14/2016 6/29/2018  2,143,206  2,143,206 

Development Bank 
of Mongolia Project on meat production MNT 3/25/2016 2/28/2020  4,250,000  4,250,000 

Development Bank 
of Mongolia MNCCI leather processing project MNT 8/22/2014 7/27/2021  15,740,382  15,740,382 

Development Bank 
of Mongolia

Project 888 to support export 
and substitute import  (less than 
2 bln)

MNT 9/1/2014 12/30/2019  176,693  176,693 

Development Bank 
of Mongolia

Project 888 to support export 
and substitute import  (more 
than 2 bln)

MNT 8/28/2014 1/29/2020  14,857,819  14,857,819 

Development Bank 
of Mongolia

Projects to support export and 
substitute import /up to 300 
billion/

MNT 9/28/2015 11/27/2020  4,425,464  4,425,464 

Jo
in

t p
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ct

s o
f M
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go

lia
n 

go
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m

en
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  J
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In
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Ag

en
cy

World Bank Private sector development 
project loan 2, MNT MNT 10/18/2007 12/20/2017 11,536 11,536

JICA Borrowings under SME industry 
support fund MNT 6/12/2009 12/31/2017 15,489,028 15,489,028

JICA Borrowings under SME industry 
support fund USD 9/29/2006 12/31/2019 80 194,167

Ot
he

r g
ov

er
nm

en
t p

ro
je

ct
s

Government Borrowings under SME industry 
support fund MNT 7/10/2012 12/31/2017 5,516,365 5,516,365

Government Borrowings under SME industry 
support fund MNT 6/12/2015 3/5/2019 7,097,032 7,097,032

Government Student development program MNT 11/30/2016 11/30/2026 1,987,754 1,987,754

Government Borrowings under Agriculture and 
Rural Development Project MNT 2/10/2011 12/13/2019 1,149,202 1,149,202

Government Project to support employment MNT 2/8/2017 8/1/2024 26,140,600 26,140,600

Government
Other borrowing under project 
(Training Loan from Foreign 
bank)

USD 11/12/2009 5/1/2027 144 350,169
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(B) Borrowings from foreign banks and financial institutions

Borrowings from other foreign bank of MNT 247,279,457 thousand represents loans obtained from foreign banks and financial institution in the amount 
of USD 100,000 thousand on 15 July 2016 with maturity of 24 months and USD 7,500 thousand on 26 September 2017 with maturity of 97 months. The 
borrowings of USD 100,000 thousand is collateralized by the Bank’s current account at these banks (refer to Note 11).

The Bank obtained uncommitted revolving trade credit lines from international banks and financial institutions to fund its trade loans to customers. As of 
31 December 2017 the Bank utilised MNT 127,290,678 thousand (31 December 2016: MNT 102,195,250 thousand) of related credit lines and issued loans 
for the same amount. Funding is provided by international banks and financial institutions for the purpose of import financing of transactions of customers. 
The term of such funding is up to 3 years and cash flows from customers and payment to foreign banks are matching in terms of the timing of payment 
and principal amount. The Bank bears the credit risk in the case of non-payment by the customer. The increase in trade finance relates to ordinary course of 
business activities as well as new funding in USD and EUR from foreign banks.

Refer to Note 41 for the disclosure of fair value of other borrowed funds. Currency, interest rate and maturity analysis of other borrowed funds are disclosed 
in Note 37.
Borrowings from foreign banks and financial institutions have certain financial covenants and there were no breaches in the covenants as at 31 December 
2017.

26 REPO Arrangements

As of 31 December 2017, sale and repurchase agreements relate to placements from local banks and financial institutions, bearing interest rate ranging from 
7.5% p.a. to 11.0% p.a. (2016: from 7.5% p.a. to 17.0% p.a) respectively, with original maturities ranging from 7 to 941 days (2016: from 7 to 941 days). 
These placements are fully collateralized by the Bank of Mongolia treasury bills and Promissory notes disclosed in Note 13 and Note 15 respectively, please 
also see Note 39.

27 Other Liabilities

Other liabilities comprise the following:

The increased amount of liabilities for settlement of transactions relate to amounts transferred to other banks in early January 2018, at customers’ requests 
made in late December 2017. 

As a result, related amounts were transferred from customers’ accounts to the accounts used for settlement of transactions within ‘Other financial liabilities’ 
as of 31 December 2017 and further cleared through inter-banking settlement in early January 2018.

Furthermore, the Bank participated in two tranches of monetization transactions with MIK in 2017 for selling of mortgage loans with recourse. The Bank 
sold MNT 4,990,024 thousand and MNT 4,261,089 thousand of mortgage loans to MIK during 2017, for which the Bank received funding bearing interest 
rate at 15% p.a. The Bank retained all the risks and rewards related to the loans sold to MIK within these transactions. Therefore, the assets do not qualify 
for derecognition and a financial liability is recognised for the consideration received from MIK. The balance in other liability as of 31 December 2017 has 
decreased by the repayments of related loans.  

Most of the other financial liabilities are expected to be settled within twelve months after the year-end. All non-financial liabilities are of a short-term nature.

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks

Group Bank
31 December

2017
31 December

2016
31 December

2017
31 December

2016

Other financial liabilities 48,630,469 31,383,555 48,630,446  31,353,878 
Liabilities for settlements of transactions 28,354,420 18,336,020 28,354,420  18,336,020 
Liabilities for loans sold to MIK with recourse 8,327,985 5,539,233 8,327,985  5,539,233 
Account payable 4,796,355 1,315,093 4,796,332  1,315,093 
Other 7,151,709 6,193,209 7,151,709  6,163,532 

Other non-financial liabilities 3,763,827 2,710,213 3,610,230  2,701,720 
Payables to employees 1,721,668 1,527,632 1,675,272  1,527,450 
Tax payable other than on income 2,042,159 1,182,581 1,934,958  1,174,270 

Total other liabilities 52,394,296 34,093,768 52,240,676  34,055,598 
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28 Subordinated Debt

As the above balances represent both the Bank’s and Group’s balances, the additional disclosure for Group is not required.

Subordinated loans as of the year ended 31 December 2017:

Subordinated loan from Golomt Financial Group (I)

The Bank received a USD 10 million 5-year subordinated loan from Credit Suisse AG, Singapore Branch in 2007. The loan was matured on 19 December 2012, 
at which date the loan was not repaid or converted into shares.

On 31 December 2013, the Amendment Agreement was signed between Golomt Bank and Bodi International LLC, the main shareholder of the Bank at that 
time, on transfer of Credit Suisse loan to Bodi International LLC. Accordingly, the transfer certificate was signed by Credit Suisse AG, Singapore Branch, Bodi 
International LLC and Golomt Bank on 8 January 2014. Bodi International LLC, the main shareholder of the Bank purchased the loan from Credit Suisse on 
27 December 2013.

While the agreement with Credit Suisse contained conversion option, which gave Credit Suisse the right at any time during the loan life to convert the loan 
into new ordinary shares at pre-determined strike (exercise price) and certain debt covenants, the agreement with Bodi International LLC does not give 
creditor such rights i.e. both debt covenants and conversion option are waived through the Amendment Agreement.

The principal terms are given below:

(a) The loan bears interest at 8% per annum.
(b) The loan shall be repaid in full with the accrued interest on 31 December 2023.

Following the transfer of the Bank's ownership to Golomt Financial Group, on 7 July 2014, the subordinated loan was transferred to Golomt Financial Group, 
the new main shareholder of the Bank. On 30 September 2016 an Amendment Agreement was signed between Golomt Bank and Golomt Financial Group 
LLC to extend the maturity and as well as interest rate of the subordinated loan. Interest rate of the subordinated loan increased from 6.0% p.a. to 8.0% p.a., 
while maturity has been extended from 31 December 2018 to 31 December 2023.

Subordinated loan from Golomt Financial Group (II)

On 8 June 2010, the Bank received a USD 25 million 5-year subordinated loan from Stanhope Investments, a wholly owned subsidiary of Abu Dhabi 
Investment Council, with the following principal term:

- The loan bears interest at 4.5% above 3 months LIBOR, payable quarterly; 
- Stanhope Investments has the option at any time during the loan life to convert the loan into new ordinary shares at a predefined strike (exercise) 

price. 
- Stanhope Investments has right to request immediate repayment of the full amount of the debt, if certain financial and non-financial covenants 

were breached. 

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Subordinated loans from Golomt Financial Group 97,042,814 87,733,803

Total 97,042,814 87,733,803

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Maturity date Currency Interest rate p.a. Face value in currency

Golomt Financial Group (I) 31/12/2023 USD 8.0%  10,000,000 
Golomt Financial Group (II) 08/12/2024 USD 8.0%  25,000,000 
Golomt Financial Group (III) 27/07/2023 MNT 13.5%  12,000,000 
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On 30 April 2014, a transfer certificate was signed by Stanhope Investments, Golomt Bank and Bodi International LLC. Bodi International LLC, the main 
shareholder of the Bank, purchased the loan from Stanhope Investments. Both debt covenants and conversion option were waived through the agreement 
signed by Golomt Bank and Bodi International LLC. Following the transfer of the Bank's ownership to Golomt Financial Group, on 7 July 2014, the subordinated 
loan was transferred to Golomt Financial Group, a new main shareholder of the Bank. 

The subordinated loan was matured on 8 June 2015 and the Amendment Agreement was signed between Golomt Bank and Golomt Financial Group LLC to 
extend the maturity date to 8 December 2020. On 30 September 2016 an Amendment Agreement was signed between Golomt Bank and Golomt Financial 
Group LLC to extend the maturity and as well as change interest rate of the subordinated loan. Interest rate of the subordinated loan increased from 5.1% 
p.a. to 8.0% p.a., while maturity has been extended from 8 December 2020 to 8 December 2024.

Subordinated loan from Golomt Financial Group (III)

The Bank received a subordinated loan in the amount of MNT 12,000,000 thousand with maturity of 6 years from Golomt Financial Group LLC during 2017. 
The loan bears interest rate of 13.5% p.a. and is convertible into ordinary shares at the maturity. The new subordinated loan has certain covenants and there 
were no breach in the covenants as at 31 December 2017.

None of the other subordinated debt agreements had financial or other covenants as of 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016. Information on related 
party balances is disclosed in Note 43.

29 Share Capital

The nominal registered amount of the Bank’s issued share capital is MNT 26,367,593 thousand (2016: MNT 26,367,593 thousand).

Share premium represents the excess of contributions received over the nominal value of shares is-sued.

Ordinary shares

The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 26,367,593 shares (31 December 2015: 26,367,593 shares), with a par value of MNT 1,000 per share (2015: 
MNT 1,000 per share). All issued ordinary shares are fully paid.

1,300,000 fully paid shares of the Bank of MNT 1,000 each were transferred from Trafigura Beheer B.V to Golomt Investment Co., Ltd during 2017.

The shareholders of the Bank as of 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 and the percentages of ownership are as follows:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks except for 
number of shares

Number of 
outstanding shares Ordinary shares Share premium Preference shares Total

At 1 January 2016 26,367,593 26,367,593 46,583,557 25,778,900 98,730,050

At 31 December 2016  26,367,593  26,367,593 46,583,557  25,778,900  98,730,050 

At 31 December 2017 26,367,593 26,367,593 46,583,557 25,778,900 98,730,050

Shareholder
2017 2016

Ownership (%) Ownership (%)
Golomt Financial Group Co.,Ltd 83.76% 83.76%
Swiss-Mo Investment A.G 9.98% 9.98%
Trafigura Beheer B.V - 4.93%
Golomt Investment Co.,Ltd 4.93% -
ESOP 1.33% 1.33%
Total 100% 100%
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29 Share Capital (continued)

Preferred shares

Mr. Zorigt, a business partner of Mr. Bayasgalan, agreed to purchase the preferred shares of Golomt Bank on 22 December 2013 in accordance with the 
shareholder’s resolution on issuance of preferred shares dated 19 December 2013.

Under this agreement, total investment to preferred shares of the Bank amounts to USD 15 million which should be made in two instalments (USD 10 million 
due by 25 December 2013 and USD 5 million due by 25 December 2014). As of 31 December 2017, total preferred shares amount to USD 15,000,000, which 
is equivalent to MNT 25,778,900 thousand divided into 25,778,900 preferred shares.

30 Interest Income and Expense

The increase in the interest income from loan and advances to customers is due to increased amount of loans disbursed to customers in 2017. Further, 
interest income from cash and balances with central bank includes MNT 11,403,260 thousand (2016: MNT 9,149,482 thousand), which relates to interest 
income on placed mandatory reserves received from the Bank of Mongolia based on the resolution of the Bank of Mongolia applicable to all Mongolian 
banks, as the Bank maintained the required level of mandatory reserve during 2017.

Interest income includes approximately MNT 8.7 billion (2016: MNT 10.1 billion) of interest income, recognised on impaired loans to customers. Management 
believes that related amounts are fully recoverable, given that impaired loans and advances to customers have high collateral coverage and that non-
recoverable amount of interest income is not recognised in the profit or loss account for 2017 and 2016 in accordance with IFRS requirements.

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Group Bank

2017 2016 2017 2016

Interest income
Loans and advances to customers 293,489,976 261,336,134 293,489,976 261,336,134

Debt securities at fair value through profit or loss 
and available for sale 46,040,736 20,684,079 46,040,736 20,684,079

Short-term investment securities 41,123,291 23,621,571 41,123,291 23,621,571
Investments held to maturity 12,892,817 15,870,152 12,619,867 15,662,474
Cash and balances with central bank 12,417,998 9,387,860 12,417,998 9,387,860
Due from other banks 3,156,025 867,077 3,155,790 867,077
Reverse repurchase agreements 372,197 340,315 372,197 340,315

Total interest income 409,493,040 332,107,188 409,219,855 331,899,510
 
Interest expense
Customer accounts (230,559,406) (193,233,346) (230,561,263) (193,237,793)
Other borrowed funds (36,996,420) (38,531,051) (36,996,420) (38,531,051)
Subordinated loans (7,626,284) (6,085,952) (7,626,284) (6,085,952)
Due to other banks (8,568,659) (5,148,134) (8,568,659) (5,148,134)
Repurchase agreements (3,476,881) (3,412,605) (3,476,881) (3,412,605)

Total interest expense (287,227,650) (246,411,088) (287,229,507) (246,415,535)

Net interest income 122,265,390 85,696,100 121,990,348 85,483,975
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The increase within fee and commission income from operations with plastic cards and the fee and commission expenses increase for card transaction are 
due to expanded card related business activities during 2017.

32 Other Operating Income

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Group Bank

2017 2016 2017 2016

Fee and commission income
Commissions on operations with plastic cards 19,476,085  13,014,091 19,476,085  13,014,092 
Remittance and other service fees 8,572,030  7,192,124 8,572,030  7,135,876 
Account service fee and commissions 3,887,024  3,370,834 3,888,233  3,367,956 

Commissions on documentary business and 
guarantees 3,336,650  3,494,876 3,336,650  3,494,876 

Brokerage and other service fee 1,421,753  1,369,102 377,126  969,566 

Total fee and commission income 36,693,542  28,441,027 35,650,124  27,982,366 

Fee and commission expense
Card transaction expense (7,338,953)  (5,753,370) (7,338,954)  (5,753,370)
Bank service expense (2,244,096)  (1,686,488) (1,891,041)  (1,596,299)
Online transaction expense (382,746)  (259,157) (382,746)  (259,157)
Brokerage and other service fee (208,391) (196,044) -

Total fee and commission expense (10,174,186)  (7,699,015) (9,808,785)  (7,608,826)

Net fee and commission income 26,519,356  20,742,012 25,841,339  20,373,540 

Group Bank
In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks Note 2017 2016 2017 2016

Income from repayment of loans which were written off 1,266,457 943,167 1,266,457 943,167
Gain on remeasurement of investment properties 16 527,707 527,707 -
Gain or loss on disposal of premises and equipment 13,351 42,174 12,751 42,174
Other (276,131) 411,695 (288,752) 406,382

 Total other operating income 1,531,384 1,397,036 1,518,163 1,391,723

31 Fee and Commission Income and Expense
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33 Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

34 Income Taxes

Income tax expense recorded in profit or loss for the year comprises the following:

The Bank provides for income taxes on the basis of income for financial reporting purposes, adjusted for items which are not assessable or deductible for 
income tax purposes. The income tax rate for profits of the Bank is 10% for the first MNT 3 billion (2016: MNT 3 billion) of taxable income, and 25% (2016: 
25%) on the excess of taxable income over MNT 3 billion (2016: MNT 3 billion) in accordance with Mongolian tax legislation.  

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Group Bank

2017 2016 2017 2016

Staff costs 31,003,901 30,908,674 30,642,006 30,747,704
Administrative expenses 16,140,317 9,659,404 16,039,618 9,615,557
Professional fees 11,402,091 7,560,235 11,397,691 7,555,529
Depreciation of premises and equipment 8,775,951 9,669,168 8,762,817 9,661,972
Rental of premises 5,934,566 5,786,325 5,893,526 5,733,987
Advertising and marketing services 3,027,679 2,133,614 3,023,768 2,127,745
Loan collection expenses 1,794,054 1,790,959 1,794,054 1,790,959
Amortization of software and intangible assets 1,621,165 2,845,311 1,619,599 2,845,311
Taxes (other than income tax) 1,419,818 1,408,834 1,419,818 1,408,834
Transportation 916,014 895,116 914,492 894,489
Travelling expenses 842,978 742,586 835,269 721,410
Utilities 661,618 614,482 660,965 600,641
Entertainment 542,240 478,315 539,310 478,315
Voluntary and mandatory insurance 426,250 466,151 425,830 466,151
Property, plant and equipment written-off 45,225 17,209 45,225 17,209
Donations 1,000 164,600 1,000 164,600
Other 1,595,262 2,427,760 1,568,456 2,420,880

Total administrative and other operating 
expenses 86,150,129 77,568,744 85,583,444 77,251,293

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Group Bank

2017 2016 2017 2016

Current income tax charge 6,053,994 - 6,035,112 -
Deferred income tax charge/(credit) (12,965,193) 7,471,460 (12,965,193) 7,472,658
 
Income tax expense/(credit) for the year (6,911,199) 7,471,460 (6,930,081) 7,472,658

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Group Bank

2017 2016 2017 2016

Staff costs consist of:
Salaries, wages and bonus 27,157,431 26,834,382 26,827,803 26,691,584
Contribution to social and health fund 2,847,888 2,880,108 2,815,622 2,864,401
Staff benefits 459,188 620,815 459,188 620,815
Staff training 650,223 419,222 650,223 416,757
Pension fund (110,830) 154,147 (110,830) 154,147

Total staff costs 31,003,900 30,908,674 30,642,006 30,747,704
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Reconciliation between the expected and the actual taxation charge is provided below:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks
Group Bank

2017 2016 2017 2016

Profit before tax (12,238,502) 13,059,208 (12,082,935) 12,746,219
 

Theoretical tax charge at statutory rate (2016: 25%; 
2015: 25%) (3,059,626) 3,264,802 (3,020,733) 3,186,555

Tax effect of items which are not deductible or 
assessable for taxation purposes:

- Effect of income subject to lower rate (450,000) (450,000) (450,000) (450,000)
- Income which is exempt from taxation (912,990) (269,435) (912,990) (268,373)
- Non-deductible expenses 1,482,350 2,612,450 1,482,350 2,610,943

- Income on government securities (exempt 
from taxation) (11,329,720) (5,408,961) (11,329,720) (5,359,677)

- Unrecognised tax loss carry forwards 7,301,012 7,753,210 7,301,012 7,753,210
- Other 57,773 (30,606) - -

 
Income tax expense/(credit) for the year (6,911,201) 7,471,460 (6,930,081) 7,472,658

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 1 January 2017

Credited/ 
(charged) to profit 

or loss
Charged 

directly to equity 31 December 2017

Tax effect of deductible / (taxable) temporary differences

Loans and advances to customers - interest income on loans overdue more than 
90 days (13,323,282) 2,808,295 - (10,514,987)

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (changes in fair value of 
shares) 302,601 (401,939) - (99,338)

Fair value changes of financial instruments available for sale (1,606,796) - (11,836,946) (13,443,742)

Fair value changes of derivative financial instruments (20,290,007) 11,471,642 - (8,818,365)

Prepaid income – loan origination fee 1,291,950 240,930 - 1,532,880

Loan and advances to customers - difference between BoM and IFRS provision (1,221,508) 7,523,966 - 6,302,458

Impairment of buildings - 5,039,406 - 5,039,406
Tax loss carry forward 24,511,500 (13,786,123) - 10,725,377
Others (343,776) 69,016 - (274,760)

Net deferred tax liability (10,679,318) 12,965,193 (11,836,946) (9,551,071)

The non-deductible expenses in 2017 relates to entertainment, reception and training expenses not supported by documents. Further, income from 
government securities which is tax exempt per Mongolian legislation has increased in 2017 due to higher volume of government bond transactions 
compared to 2016.

The tax effect of the movements in these temporary differences in 2017 is detailed below and is recorded at the rate of 25%:
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34 Income tax (continued)

The tax effect of the movements in these temporary differences in 2016 is detailed below and is recorded at the rate of 25%:

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 1 January 2016

Credited/ 
(charged) to profit 

or loss
Charged 

directly to equity 31 December 2016

Tax effect of deductible / (taxable) temporary differences

Loans and advances to customers - interest income on loans overdue more than 
90 days (5,143,512) (8,179,770) - (13,323,282)

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (changes in fair value of 
shares) 1,036,375 (733,774) - 302,601

Fair value changes of financial instruments available for sale (1,473,130) - (133,666) (1,606,796)
Fair value changes of derivative financial instruments (10,051,754) (10,238,253) - (20,290,007)
Prepaid income – loan origination fee 1,045,622 246,328 - 1,291,950
Loan and advances to customers - difference between BoM and IFRS provision 11,495,335 (12,716,843) - (1,221,508)
Tax loss carry forward - 24,511,500 - 24,511,500
Others 18,070 (361,846) - (343,776)

Net deferred tax liability (3,072,994)  (7,472,658) (133,666) (10,679,318) 

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 2017 2016

Tax loss carry-forwards expiring by the end of:

- 31 December 2018 10,725,377 24,511,500

Total tax loss carry forwards 10,725,377 24,511,500

35 Other Comprehensive Income Recognised in Each Component of Equity

An analysis of other comprehensive income by item for each component of equity is as follows:

As the above balances represent both the Bank’s and Group’s balances, the additional disclosure for Group is not required.

In thousands of Mongolian Tugriks 2017 2016

Changes in:
- fair value of available for sale investment securities, including repossessed financial collateral 47,347,785 534,662
- fair value of premises and equipment (5,242,377) 2,738,497
Income tax recorded directly in other comprehensive income (11,836,946) (295,339)

 
Other comprehensive income 30,268,462 2,977,820


